Fifth Consensus Guidelines for the Management of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting - Full Report

APPENDIX 1: FULL REPORT

TONG J GAN MD, MBA, MHS, FRCA, Professor and Head, Division of Anesthesiology, Critical Care and Pain Medicine, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX. **E-mail: tjgan@mdanderson.org**

ZHAOSHENG JIN, MBBS, BSC, Assistant Professor, Department of Anesthesiology, Stony Brook Renaissance School of Medicine, Stony Brook, NY. **E-mail: zhaosheng.jin@stonybrookmedicine.edu**

SABRY AYAD, MD, MBA, FASA, Professor of Anesthesiology, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine of Case Western Reserve University; Outcomes Research, Anesthesiology Institute, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH. **E-mail:** saayad@ccf.org

KUMAR G. BELANI, MBBS, MS, FACA, FAAP. Professor of Anesthesiology, Medicine & Pediatrics, M Health Fairview, Masonic Children's Hospital and Distinguished International Professor, Academic Health Center, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN. **E-mail: belan001@umn.edu**

ASHRAF S HABIB, MBBCH, MSC, MHSC, FRCA, Professor of Anesthesiology, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC. **E-mail: ashraf.habib@duke.edu**

TRICIA A. MEYER, PHARMD, M.S., FASHP, FTSHP, Adjunct Professor of Anesthesiology, Texas A&M College of Medicine, Temple, TX. E-mail: tricia.meyer@bswhealth.org

RICHARD D. URMAN, MD, MBA; Jay J. Jacoby Professor and Chair, Department of Anesthesiology, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH. **E-mail: richard.urman@osumc.edu**

BENJAMIN Y. ANDREW, MD, MHS, Assistant Professor, Department of Anesthesiology, Division of Pediatric Anesthesia, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC. **E-mail: benjamin.andrew@duke.edu**

SERGIO D. BERGESE, MD, Professor of Anesthesiology and Neurological Surgery, Vice Chair for Professional Development, Director of Outcomes and Clinical Research in Perioperative Medicine, Stony Brook Renaissance School of Medicine, Stony Brook, NY. **E-mail: sergio.bergese@stonybrookmedicine.edu**

FRANCES CHUNG, MBBS, MD, SAMBAF, FRCPC, Professor, Dept of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, ResMed Chair in Anesthesiology, Sleep, and Periop Medicine Research at University Health Network. Faculty, Institute of Medical Science, Temerity Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada. **E-mail: Frances.Chung@uhn.ca**

PIERRE DIEMUNSCH, MD, PH D, Professor Emeritus of Anesthesia, Intensive Care and Perioperative Medicine; University of Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France, **E-mail: pierre.diemunsch@chru-strasbourg.fr**

ANTHONY L. KOVAC MD, Department of Anesthesiology, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, Kansas, KS. **E-mail: akovac@kumc.edu**

KEITH CANDIOTTI, MD, Professor and Chair, Department of Anesthesiology, Perioperative Medicine and Pain Management, University of Miami, Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL. **E-mail: kcandiot@med.miami.edu**

MARINA ENGLESAKIS, BA (HONS), MLIS, Information Specialist, Health Sciences Library, University Health Network, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada. E-mail: marina.englesakis@uhn.ca

MICHAEL C. GRANT, MD, MSE, Associate Professor, Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care Medicine, The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD. E-mail: mgrant17@jhmi.edu.

TRACI L. HEDRICK, MD, MSC, Professor of Surgery, Chief, Division of General Surgery, University of Virginia Health System, Charlottesville, VA. E-mail: TH8Q@hscmail.mcc.virginia.edu

HUANG HUANG, MD, Assistant Professor of Anesthesiology, Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, Texas. **E-mail: hhuang8@mdanderson.org**

PETER KRANKE, MD, MBA, MME, FESAIC, Professor of anesthesia, University Hospital Würzburg, Department of Anaesthesiology, Intensive Care, Emergency and Pain Medicine, Würzburg, Germany. **E-mail: kranke_p@ukw.de**

S. JULIE-ANN LLOYD, MD, PHD, FACS, DABOM, FASMBS, Assistant Professor of Surgery, Michael E. DeBakey Department of Surgery, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX. E-mail: julieannlloyd@gmail.com

MICHELE A. MANAHAN, MD, MBA, FACS, Professor of Clinical Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department Vice Chair of Faculty and Staff Development and Well-Being, Johns Hopkins Hospital Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Baltimore, MD. E-mail: mmanahan@jhmi.edu

HAROLD S MINKOWITZ, MD, President Acute Pain and Hospital Based Research, Evolution Research Group. Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX. **E-mail:** harold@minkowitzmd.com

BEVERLY K. PHILIP, MD, 2021 President, American Society of Anesthesiologists, Professor of Anaesthesia, Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology, and Perioperative and Pain Medicine, 75 Francis Street, Boston, MA. **E-mail: bphilip@bwh.harvard.edu**

BRAD J. PHILLIPS, DNP, MBA, CRNA, NEA-BC, FACHE, CHFP, Chief Nurse Anesthetist, Department of Anesthesiology and Perioperative Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX. **E-mail: bjphillips@mdanderson.org**

KATHERINE D. SIMPSON, DNP, APRN-BC, CNRN, CVRN-II, LNC, Assistant Professor, University of St. Thomas-Houston, Peavy School of Nursing, 3800 Montrose, Houston, TX. E-mail: simpsokd@stthom.edu

JENNIFER STEVER, MMSC, CAA, Past President, American Academy of Anesthesiologist Assistants, Assistant Professor, Department of Anesthesiology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA. **E-mail: jstever@emory.edu**

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

TONG J GAN MD, MBA, MHS, FRCA

Professor and Head, Division of Anesthesiology, Critical Care and Pain Medicine

University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center Houston, TX 1400 Holcombe Blvd

Tel: 713-792-6911

Email: tjgan@mdanderson.org

Table of Contents

Introduction	05
Methods	05
Goals of the guidelines	05
Establishment of the expert panel	
Literature search and review	
Grading of evidence	
Results	
Guideline 1. Identify Patients' Risk for PONV	
Risk Scores	
Novel PONV risk factors	
PDNV risk evaluation	
Genomics, genetics and polymorphism	
The impact of sex/race/gender/social determinants on PONV	
The impact of box/rabb/gonabl/bookial actorninante on 1 of 1 v	
Guideline 2. Reduce Baseline Risk for PONV	Uc
Propofol TIVA	
Nitrous oxide	
Multimodal Systemic Analgesia	
Neuraxial and Regional Anesthesia	
Intravenous lidocaine	
Gabapentinoids	
Esmolol Opinid from a proof having	
Opioid-free anesthesia	
Supplemental Oxygen	
Sugammadex.	
Carbohydrate loading	
Fluid management	
Proton pump inhibitors	10
Guideline 3. Administer PONV Prophylaxis Using 2 Interventions in Adults at Risk for PONV	11
5-HT3 Receptor Antagonists	
Dexamethasone Antonomical Desametra	
Dopamine Receptor Antagonists	
Neurokinin-1 Receptor Antagonists	
Antihistamines	
Anticholinergics	
Dexmedetomidine	
Ephedrine	47
Olanzapine	
Benzodiazepines	16
Non-Pharmacological Options	
Combination therapy	17

Table of Contents

PONV who did not Receive Prophylaxis or when Prophylaxis Failed	19
Post-Discharge Nausea and Vomiting	
Guideline 5. Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Pediatric Patients – Risk Prediction, Mitigation, and Prophylaxis	21
Approach to POV/PONV Prevention in Pediatric Patients	
Risk Mitigation	21
Prophylactic Antiemetics: An Algorithmic Perspective	23
Prophylactic Antiemetic Agents	
Combination Therapy:	
Guideline 6. Ensure Multimodal PONV Prevention and Timely Rescue Treatment Are Implemented in the Clinical Setting	
Economics of PONV management	
Guideline 7. Inclusion of multimodal prophylactic antiemetics as enhanced recovery elements	26
Research Agenda for PONV	26
Conclusions	
Professional Society Endorsements	
References	29

INTRODUCTION

Postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) is a common adverse event after surgery and anesthesia. It is distressing for patients, delays post-anesthesia recovery, and can sometimes lead to more serious complications. Optimal management of PONV requires a multidisciplinary approach, with evidence-based care and appropriate institutional infrastructure. In the last consensus guideline, the expert panel recommended a general approach to multimodal PONV prophylaxis, and rescue treatment with antiemetics from a different pharmacological class. Since the last guideline, there has been a plethora of studies on various novel antiemetic combinations. Additionally, there is a growing body of literature on the influence of genetic, socioeconomic, and diversity considerations on PONV management. The updated guidelines will address the emerging clinical evidence, as well as the novel considerations in the management of PONV.

METHODS

GOALS OF THE GUIDELINES

The goals of the current guidelines were established by the panel as follows: 1. Identify established as well as emerging risk predictors of PONV; 2. Evaluate the effectiveness of interventions in reducing baseline risk of PONV; 3. Provide updated evidence on PONV prophylaxis, including single antiemetic, combination therapy and nonpharmacological interventions; 4. Appraise the optimal timing and dose of PONV prophylaxis; 5. Highlight evidence based approaches to the treatment of PONV and post discharge nausea and vomiting (PDNV), with or without prior PONV prophylaxis; 6. Update the PONV management algorithm and infographics 7. Review the cost-effectiveness of strategies for PONV management; 8. Evaluate the management of PONV within enhanced recovery protocols (ERP); 9. Propose a research agenda for future studies.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE EXPERT PANEL

The current guideline is prepared by a multidisciplinary expert panel, who were invited based on significant contributions in the field of PONV research or representation in professional societies with interest in PONV management. Many of the panel members were involved in the previous iterations of the guidelines. Panel members were divided into groups, each focused on a different aspect of PONV management. The groups provide input on the literature search strategy, review the literature identified from the search, and summarize the findings to be presented at the consensus meeting. At the meeting, the panel reviewed the presented evidence and reached a consensus on the grading and the clinical interpretation of the evidence. When a consensus was not reached, the majority view was accepted, and the lack of full agreement was noted in the manuscript.

LITERATURE SEARCH AND REVIEW

The searching process followed the Cochrane Handbook³ for conducting the search, the PRISMA 2020⁴ for reporting, and PRISMA-S⁵ extension for searches.

An information specialist (ME) searched the following databases from inception via the Ovid platform: MEDLINE, MEDLINE ePubs and In-Process Citations, Embase Classic+Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. All the databases were searched on the same day for each of the research topics, as noted in the search reports.

Preliminary searches were conducted, and full text literature was mined for potential keywords and appropriately controlled vocabulary terms (such as Medical Subject Headings for MEDLINE and EMTREE descriptors for Embase).

The search strategy concept blocks were built on the topics of: (Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting) AND (each of the topics noted in the search report) using both controlled vocabularies and text word searching for each component. Searches were limited to English language, humans, and adults (except for the topic on children). Conference material and non-journal materials were removed from results at source, where possible. The search results were limited to the update period, January 1, 2019, to present.

Panel members hand searched the included studies for other relevant studies. Continued literature surveillance was done through September 2024. The full search strategies and search reports were included as supplementary digital content (SDC) appendix 2.

GRADING OF EVIDENCE

To characterize the quality of evidence for each intervention, we used a grading system similar to that in the previous guidelines (SDC appendix 3). This system was previously reported by the American Society of Anesthesiologists in their acute pain management practice guideline. This provides an objective standard against which clinical evidence could be compared. The gradings are highlighted in **bold**.

RESULTS

GUIDELINE 1. IDENTIFY PATIENTS' RISK FOR PONV

PONV risk factors may be used for risk assessment (figure 1a and SDC table S1), to guide PONV management,^{7,8} and have been advocated in previous versions of this guideline.² An analysis of various PONV prophylaxis algorithms supports the use of risk assessment tools or risk stratification protocols in reducing PONV (**B1**).⁹

Several recent publications have challenged the utilization of risk factors to guide management and have proposed a more liberal administration of PONV prophylaxis in patients with lower risk of PONV.¹⁰ This approach is justified by the concern that a risk-stratified approach is not always implemented correctly, which tends to be most deleterious to high-risk patients.^{11,12} Additionally, the lack of an evidence-based threshold for individual risk factors creates potential for ambiguity. For instance, it is not clear what dose of postoperative opioids and what amount of cigarette smoking significantly modifies the risk of PONV. Determination of a prior PONV history is also confounded by the nature of prior surgery, antiemetic prophylaxis and anesthetic management.

The National Anesthesia Clinical Outcomes Registry (NACOR) and the Anesthesiology Quality Institute (AQI) data found that lower socioeconomic status patients may receive fewer antiemetics even after adjusting for patient characteristics and for procedure and provider factors.

It may be assumed that a more general approach would reduce the incidence of inadequate PONV prophylaxis. As multimodal prophylaxis is increasingly adopted as part of enhanced recovery pathways,

t may be justified to ask why it is not the standard of care for all patients undergoing general anesthesia.

While the utility of a more general multimodal approach requires further validation, the argument for liberal antiemetic combination prophylaxis becomes all the stronger the more evidence grows that the established antiemetics are safe in the perioperative dosage. ¹⁵⁻¹⁸ If a strictly risk-based antiemetic prophylaxis regimen is implemented, previous studies have shown that reminder systems substantially increase guideline adherence. ¹⁹⁻²¹ For a risk-stratified approach, an objective assessment of risk factors should guide and optimize the prevention of PONV. Various tools may help to increase internal guideline adherence, such as reminders (B1), self-checklists (B2), and the use of more sophisticated electronic decision support tools (B2).

RISK SCORES

PONV risk scores can be used to inform and guide therapy. Such scores have been shown to reduce the rate of PONV at an institutional level^{7,22,23}.

Commonly used risk scores for inpatients undergoing anesthesia are the Koivuranta score and the Apfel score ^{24,25}. The Apfel simplified risk score is based on four predictors: female gender, history of PONV and/or motion sickness, nonsmoking status, and use of postoperative opioids (figure 1a). The incidence of PONV with the presence of 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 risk factors is approximately 10%, 20%, 40%, 60%, and 80%, respectively. The panel classifies patients with 0, 1-2, or 3-plus risk factors into "low," "medium," and "high" risk categories, respectively. Koivuranta's score includes the 4 Apfel risk predictors as well as length of surgery >60 minutes.²⁵

A recent systematic review (SR) of PONV risk prediction²⁶ revealed sixty-two relevant publications with a total of 81,834 patients, and eight prediction models. The simplified Apfel score performed best, primarily because it was extensively validated. The Van den Bosch score ²⁷ and Sinclair score ²⁸ tied for second place. The simplified Koivuranta score was in third place.²⁵ This qualitative analysis highlights the strengths and weaknesses of each prediction system based on predetermined standardized quality criteria and may help choose appropriate scoring systems if PONV risk should be thoroughly classified, which becomes especially important in scenarios with no general multimodal prevention approach.

It should be noted that the shift in practice towards general, multimodal prophylaxis does not discredit the validity of PONV prediction scores,²² nor an appropriately implemented risk-adapted PONV protocol.⁷ Rather, a general multimodal approach may be used to overcome compliance issues and undetected risk factors. Such approach is increasingly adopted in enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) protocols.

NOVEL PONV RISK FACTORS

Preoperative physical status

After evaluation of more than 160,000 patients, a strong association was reported between preoperative physical fitness and decreased likelihood of developing PONV (hazard ratio 0.76 [0.71-0.82]) (**B1**).²⁹

Preoperative hematocrit

Retrospective analysis demonstrated that higher hemoglobin and hematocrit were associated with less PONV (**B1**). The prediction model cites sensitivity of 73.08% and 65.38% for Hb and Hct, respectively. Of note, patients with and without PONV had overlapping Hb/Hct values. An optimal Hct level of over 39.3% was associated with minimized PONV risk. Although these results have not been confirmed by further studies, they underline the importance of patient blood management in the perioperative context.

Preoperative neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and platelet/lymphocyte ratio (PLR)

NLR was higher in patients who experienced PONV after thoracoscopic surgery (**B1**).³¹ Studies suggest that NLR values > 2 are predictive of PONV and need for rescue antiemetic use.³² In patients undergoing mammoplasty, PLR ratio of >137.2 slightly outperformed NLR, while NLR was more predictive for total knee arthroplasty.³³,³⁴

Intraoperative hemodynamic shifts

The avoidance of intraoperative hypotension may reduce the risk of PONV (**B1**). ³⁵⁻³⁷ Similarly, goal directed hemodynamic management may reduce the risk of PONV(**A1**). ³⁸

Body mass index

Kim et al identified statistically significant differences in odd ratio for PONV between patients with BMI 18.5 to 25 kg/m² and those with BMI>25 kg/m² with higher body mass index (BMI) being protective (**B1**).³⁹ This contrasts with older data showing no clinically relevant effect of BMI on the risk of PONV ⁴⁰ and with some expert opinions suggest that obese patients have higher risks of PONV.

Type of surgery

Patients with high BMI undergoing bariatric surgery have higher rates of PONV than patients with normal BMI undergoing non-bariatric gastric surgery (**B1**).⁴¹ The bariatric surgical population may have higher rates of PONV, but this does not appear to be attributable to the higher BMI of the patient population.^{42,43} Certain other surgeries, such as laparoscopic cholecystectomy, urological procedures, and knee arthroplasty, may increase the risk of PONV (**B1**).^{44,45} Breast, gynecologic and obstetric surgeries, are also associated with increased risk.⁴⁶ Among neurosurgical procedures, microvascular decompression and those with intraoperative cerebral spinal fluid loss are associated with the highest risk of PONV (**B1**).^{47,48}

It should be noted that at the population level, adding selected individual risk factors to the prediction models is unlikely to improve the predictive properties of the risk models. This was the result of extensive modelling of different patient cohorts, as well as the occasional addition of potential risk factors of significant importance (odds ratio: 2-3).⁴⁹ If vomiting poses a significant medical risk, such as an increased intracranial pressure or in conjunction with wired jaws in the postoperative phase, these risks should be further considered.

PDNV RISK EVALUATION

PDNV presents a significant risk to discharged patients who no longer have access to fast-onset intravenous (IV) antiemetics or direct care. A study of 2,170 US outpatients reported the incidence of PDNV to be 37% in the first 48 hours after discharge and identified five independent predictors of PDNV, including female gender, age <50 years, history of PONV, opioid use in the post-anesthesia care unit (PACU), and nausea in the PACU.⁵⁰

An observational study found that the strongest predictors of PDNV on days 3 to 7 were a previous history of PDNV, operating room time, use of ondansetron in the PACU, and pain during days 3 to 7.⁵¹

Validation of a simplified PDNV risk score based on these risk factors found that the incidence of PDNV with 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 of these risk factors to be about 10%, 20%, 30%, 50%, 60%, and 80%, respectively (figure 1b).⁵⁰

GENOMICS, GENETICS AND POLYMORPHISM

There is emerging evidence that antiemetic efficacy may be influenced by gene polymorphisms as well as variation in gene expression (epigenetics). For example, cytochrome P450 (CYP $_2D_6$) is involved in the metabolism of several 5-hydroxytryptamine 3 (5-HT $_3$) receptor antagonists RA, and ultrarapid metabolizer phenotype may be associated with reduced antiemetic efficacy of ondansetron, tropisetron, and others.⁵² Another example is the polymorphisms of the serotonin-transporter-linked polymorphic region, which have been associated with increased risk of PONV.⁵³ Dopamine receptor 2 gene polymorphism has also been linked to increased risk of PONV.⁵²

SDC table S2 summarizes the main recent findings in the field. Particularly, in the genetic susceptibility to the development of PONV, two single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), the CHRM3 rs2165870 and the KCNB2 rs349358 SNP, may have a major influence in Caucasians, and both SNPs were primary identified in a genome-wide association study.⁵⁴

The translation of these interesting data on a large scale and in the everyday clinical practice is yet to be realized, along with the advances in personalized medicine. ⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ A recent study suggests that the use of this polygenic risk score did not result in a clinically meaningful improvement in PONV prediction when added to traditional risk factors. ⁵⁸

THE IMPACT OF SEX/RACE/GENDER/SOCIAL DETERMINANTS ON PONV

Social determinants, such as sex, gender, race, and socioeconomic status may lead to disparities in health care access, treatment, and outcomes. However, they are not always considered in the analyses of Randomized controlled trials (RCTs).⁵⁹

Race/Social Determinants

Social determinants of health are important to consider in the context of PONV. Andreae et al. reported that patients with lower socioeconomic status were less likely to receive antiemetics after controlling for confounders such as age, sex, ASA classification, anesthetics, practice patterns and insurance status¹³.

The interaction between race/ethnicity and PONV risk is a topic of ongoing debate. While some retrospective studies have reported lower incidence of PONV in African American patients, 60 others have disputed the validity of such associations. 61 Nevertheless, several studies have reported that after adjustment for confounders, African American patients are more frequently undertreated when compared to white patients. 60,61 In high-risk patients (4 risk factors), Hispanic patients were more likely to experience PONV than white patients. 60 More studies are needed to investigate causes for such disparities and their associated impact. Racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic inequalities in perioperative care have been cited as a major driver of financial cost to hospital systems: Jotwani estimated that given the undertreatment of PONV in black patients, the average preventable cost per surgical case is \$114 per surgical case in the United States. 62

Racial disparity in perioperative management and resulting outcomes can be avoided through standardization of care, which was shown to minimize racial disparity in PONV management.⁶³

Gender/Sex

Sex and gender may impact the perioperative management of PONV, and transgender patients represent a potentially vulnerable population.⁶⁴ In 282 transgender women receiving facial gender affirming surgery (GAS), the PONV incidence, after controlling for confounders including estrogen therapy holding before surgery, was found to be 37.6%. This is higher than the PONV rate in cisgender men (5.7%) and women (13.9%) undergoing rhinoplasty, who served as control groups (p = 0.001). The incidence of PONV in transgender patients is also higher than the reported rate of 25%–30% PONV after oral and maxillofacial surgery usually reported in the literature. Anesthesia providers may seek to pay special attention to antiemetic prophylaxis in this population.^{65,66}

Pregnancy

In a retrospective study, 237 gravid women who underwent non-obstetric procedures with general anesthesia were compared with 474 non-gravid women. There was no significant difference in the incidence of PONV amongst gravid patients compared to non-gravid patients. Fewer prophylactic antiemetics were given among gravid than non-gravid patients, which may be related to the lack of specific recommendations for PONV prophylaxis among gravid patients.



GUIDELINE 2. REDUCE BASELINE RISK FOR PONV

Approaches for decreasing baseline risk are presented in SDC table S3. Strategies recommended to reduce baseline risk for PONV include (1) minimization of perioperative opioids with the use of multimodal analgesic regimens; (2) preferential use of regional anesthesia; (3) preferential use of propofol infusions as the primary anesthetic; 68,69 (4) avoidance of volatile anesthetics; and (5) adequate hydration in patients undergoing surgery.

PROPOFOL TIVA

An systematic review and meta-analysis (SRMA) of RCTs showed that the PONV risk with propofol TIVA is comparable to volatile anesthesia plus 5-HT₃ RA or droperidol (**A1**).^{68,69} Propofol TIVA is also effective when used in combination with other antiemetics (**A2**).^{70,71} Lastly, subhypnotic dose propofol infusion is effective when used in combination with other antiemetics (**A2**), although the duration is limited to PACU duration.⁷²

NITROUS OXIDE

A recent SRMA suggests that N_2O as maintenance anesthesia increases the incidence of PONV.⁷³ On the other hand, a RCT of patients undergoing laparoscopic hysterectomy found that 70% N_2O only during the last 30 minutes of surgery had comparable PONV risk to those receiving air/ O_2 mixture throughout the case (A3).⁷⁴

MULTIMODAL SYSTEMIC ANALGESIA

Prophylactic IV acetaminophen as part of a multimodal analgesic regimen reduces incidence of nausea when given before the onset of pain (A1).⁷⁵ Although oral acetaminophen has also been shown to reduce opioid requirement and is considerably less costly than other analgesics, its effect on PONV is not well-studied. RCTs and meta-analyses show that perioperative nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, (NSAIDs), cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ and, to a lesser extent, intraoperative ketamine⁷⁹ may have a morphine-sparing effect in the postoperative period (A1). A SRMA reported that, in patients with postoperative patient-controlled analgesia (PCA), IV or intramuscular (IM) NSAIDs significantly reduced the risk of PONV, and appears to be more effective than IV acetaminophen (A1).⁸⁰ However, nonselective NSAIDs may be associated with anastomotic leak in gastrointestinal (GI) surgery and their use should be carefully considered.⁸¹⁻⁸³

NEURAXIAL AND REGIONAL ANESTHESIA

It is well established that epidural analgesia could reduce the risk of PONV,^{84,85} on the other hand, the role of intrathecal opioids in the PONV risk modification remains unclear.⁸⁶ An earlier SRMA suggested that there may be a correlation between epidural local anesthetic dosage and PONV risk.⁸⁷

A recent SRMA of patients undergoing abdominal surgery found that transversus abdominis plane (TAP) block significantly reduced the risk of PONV, specifically if TAP block was administered before surgery.⁸⁸ Quadratus lumborum block similarly reduced PONV risk within the first 24 hours (A1).⁸⁹

Continuous wound infiltration is also effective in reducing postoperative opioid requirement and PONV risk (A3).⁹⁰ When regional anesthesia is implemented as a part of an enhanced recovery pathway, its benefit in preventing PONV is less apparent, likely because other enhanced recovery pathways include other opioid-sparing interventions.⁹¹

INTRAVENOUS LIDOCAINE

Weibel *et al*¹⁶ conducted an SRMA on the use of IV lidocaine and PONV and reported that in laparoscopic abdominal procedures, the PONV risk is lower with lidocaine infusion. No benefit was seen with other surgery types.⁹²

GABAPENTINOIDS

A large meta-analysis involving 281 RCTs reported a significant reduction in the risk of PONV with gabapentin and pregabalin (A1). This effect was seen with both low doses (defined as <300 mg pregabalin/day or <900 mg gabapentin/day) and higher doses, and also when given as a single or in multiple doses. Their use was however associated with increased risk of dizziness and visual disturbances. The use of gabapentinoids as part of the multimodal analgesic regimen in ERAS protocols has been challenged due to concerns related to adverse events and the risk of respiratory depression when used in association with opioids. Furthermore, the analgesic and opioid sparing efficacy of gabapentinoids may not be clinically relevant. 93

ESMOLOL

In one study in patients undergoing ambulatory surgery, an intraoperative infusion of esmolol, in conjunction with PONV prophylaxis with droperidol and dexamethasone, was associated with reduced PACU opioid consumption and PONV compared with intraoperative infusion of remifentanil or placebo. ⁹⁵ A subsequent study in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy showed more PONV in patients who received esmolol bolus and infusion alone compared to those who received ramosetron alone or ramosetron combined with esmolol. ⁹⁶

OPIOID-FREE ANESTHESIA

Several studies demonstrate that opioid-free anesthesia reduces PONV and shortens PACU length of stay compared to opioid-based anesthesia (A1). P7-101 These effects lasted 24 hours. Bradycardia was seen more frequently in the opioid-free group and patients may have longer awakening times. However, one SR showed no significant difference in PONV (A1) and another proposed that the choice of opioid is important for PONV risk evaluation (A1). PONV occurred less in opioid-free anesthesia based on recent SR. However, it is also unclear to what extent multimodal antiemetic prophylaxis can also achieve these effects in the context of opioid-sparing anesthesia or standard anesthetic approaches.

SUPPLEMENTAL OXYGEN

An SRMA of RCTs showed that supplemental oxygen was not associated with significant change in the overall risk of PONV (A1),¹⁰⁴ but the risk of early vomiting in abdominal surgery was lower and less PONV was seen when muscular tissue oxygen saturation was maintained above baseline (B1).¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶

SUGAMMADEX

Sugammadex reduces the incidence and severity of PONV (A1).¹⁰⁷ A SRMA of 40 RCTs found that sugammadex reduced PONV risk in PACU but not on the wards, and was effective regardless of the administration of other prophylactic antiemetics¹⁰⁸. It however did not reduce PONV in the subgroup that received propofol TIVA. Furthermore, since the last iteration of the guideline, a new Cochrane SRMA identified 6 studies comparing the risk of PONV in patients, who had neuromuscular junction blockade reversed with sugammadex compared to neostigmine, and reported that the PONV risk is lower with sugammadex.¹⁰⁹ The quality of evidence was limited, however, due to inclusion of open-label studies as well as risk of bias due to unclear baseline PONV risk of the participants.

CARBOHYDRATE LOADING

There has been no general consensus on the use of carbohydrate loading prior to surgery and its impact on PONV. Adequate preoperative hydration contributes to less PONV but carbohydrate loading, which is used in many enhanced recovery protocols, shows no clear benefit in terms of PONV reduction in comparison to clear fluids (C1).¹¹⁰ Carbohydrate loading may well improve circulatory dynamics (A1); it is more comfortable for the patient, and there is no increased risk with respect to aspiration (A1).¹¹¹ Therefore, taken together, the data suggest that this treatment may be overall beneficial despite the absence of PONV risk reduction.

FLUID MANAGEMENT

A Cochrane review involving 41 studies reported with moderate certainty of evidence that supplemental crystalloids, which ranged from 10-40 ml/kg, reduced the risk of early and late PONV as well as the need for rescue antiemetics (A1).¹¹² A SR comparing the impact of colloids versus crystalloids on PONV found that perioperative colloid administration did not reduce the incidence of PONV compared to crystalloids, except in major surgeries with anesthesia duration longer than 3 hours (A1).¹¹³ Low quality evidence suggests that perioperative dextrose infusion might reduce the risk of postoperative nausea,¹¹⁴ PONV and need for rescue antiemetics following laparoscopic surgery (A1).¹¹⁵ Stroke volume-guided fluid therapy reduced the risk of PONV and antiemetic requirement in gastrectomy patients (A3).¹¹⁶

PROTON PUMP INHIBITORS

A study reported that PONV is higher in patients with gastroesophageal reflux and proton pump inhibitors may have some benefit in reducing PONV (**B1**).¹¹⁷

GUIDELINE 3. ADMINISTER PONV PROPHYLAXIS USING 2 INTERVENTIONS IN ADULTS AT ANY RISK FOR PONV

Although randomized controlled trials, meta-analyses, guidelines, and expert opinion recommend the use of combination therapy and administration of 2 antiemetics in patients with 1-2 risk factors for prevention of PONV, there continues to be a large number of studies investigating monotherapy with antiemetics from the 6 major pharmacological classes since the 2020 Guidelines (table 1).^{2,16,118-148,8-13,15-24,27-29,31-42} The majority of single drug to single drug comparison studies for prevention of PONV are on the 5-HT₃ RA class of antiemetics. Safety profiles of antiemetics are summarized in the (SDC table S4).

5-HT3 RECEPTOR ANTAGONISTS

Elevated levels of the neurotransmitter serotonin induce nausea and vomiting by triggering the specific receptors in the gut and central nervous system. The 5-HT₃ RA inhibit serotonin receptors centrally and peripherally¹¹⁸ and they have better anti-vomiting than anti-nausea efficacy.^{16,118}

Ondansetron

Ondansetron was the first 5-HT₃ RA on the market and commonly used as the preferred antiemetic for PONV prophylaxis.² The drug was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), recommended dose was 4 mg by slow IV injection or 16 mg of the oral formulation (oral disintegrating tablets, given 1 hour before induction). The IV drug has a mean elimination half-life of 3.1-5.8 hours in adults and is extensively metabolized by the liver.¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵¹ CYP 2D6 ultra-metabolizers are significantly more likely to develop PONV despite ondansetron prophylaxis.¹⁵² In a 2021 Cochrane network meta-analysis (NMA) on drugs for PONV prophylaxis in adults after general anesthesia, 585 randomized trials enrolling 97,516 patients were included to evaluate 44 single drugs and 51 drug combinations. Ondansetron was the most investigated single drug followed by dexamethasone.^{16,118}

Since the 2020 PONV Guideline, several studies have compared ondansetron 4 mg with dexamethasone 8 mg and concluded that ondansetron 4 mg is more effective for PONV prophylaxis. 119,120,153

Ondansetron 4 mg is comparable to prochlorperazine 10 mg for PONV prophylaxis, with a trend towards greater risk of side effects in the prochlorperazine group. A meta-analysis of 13 RCT's compared ondansetron (4-8 mg) versus droperidol (0.62-2.5 mg) and found that drowsiness incidences were significantly less with ondansetron.

Nuttall conducted a single center retrospective safety study of 32,737 patients to determine incidence of torsades de pointes (TdP) or death following a prophylactic ondansetron 4 mg dose. Results showed that no patients died of TdP as a direct result of ondansetron. A subset of 4,331 patients had documented QTc>450msec and they did not experience TdP. Forty-six patients had monomorphic ventricular tachycardia that were precipitated by existing cardiovascular conditions. 123

Palonosetron

Palonosetron was approved by the FDA in July 2003 with the recommended dose of 0.075 mg administered intravenously over 10 seconds. The agent is considered a 2nd generation 5-HT₃ RA. Palonosetron has an elimination half-life of 40 hours and a greater affinity for the 5-HT₃ receptor subtype than other 5-HT₃ RAs. 124,154

Using a weight-based dosing strategy, 1mcg/kg palonosetron was more effective than ondansetron 0.1 mg/kg. 125-127 It has been suggested that the standardized dose of palonosetron 0.075 mg may lead to pharmacological underdosing in obese patients, and weight-based dosing adjustment for palonosetron was more efficacious without an increase in side effects. 127

Palonosetron 0.075 mg was found to be more effective than ondansetron 4 mg in both abdominal and renal transplant surgery patients. ^{128,129} When compared to ondansetron 8mg, palonosetron 0.075 mg appears to have a lower incidence of PONV. ^{130,131} Patients who received subsequent redosing of ondansetron 8 mg had comparable PONV risk as those who received a single dose palonosetron, ^{132,133} although more headaches were noted in the ondansetron arm (26% vs 8%). ¹³² Palonosetron appears to be more effective when compared to ondansetron 4 mg or 8 mg, however when added doses of ondansetron are given, no differences were found between the two drugs. (A3)

Granisetron

Granisetron received FDA approval in 1993. The drug is 65% protein bound with an elimination half-life of 5-9hrs. The drug is metabolized by CYP₁A₁ and CYP₃A₄. Original labeling from the package insert recommended 1 mg IV push. More recently an adult dosing range of 0.1 to 3 mg IV at the end of surgery has been suggested for preventing PONV.^{2,118,155-157}

In lower abdominal surgery patients, the incidence of 24-hour PONV was lower in those who received granisetron 3 mg (10%) compared to ondansetron 4 mg (26.7%) and metoclopramide 10 mg (53.3%). Granisetron 2 mg was more effective than ondansetron 4 mg for late PONV. Granisetron 10mcg/kg was more effective than ramosetron 0.3 mg. 136

Ramosetron

Ramosetron is a newer 5-HT₃ RA for the management of PONV. The drug may have a higher binding affinity, slower receptor dissociation and longer duration of action than other first generation 5-HT₃ antagonists. Ramosetron is not available in the U.S. however is available in Japan and several of the Southeast Asian countries. Asian countries.

Several clinical trials have reported that ramosetron 0.3 mg was superior to ondansetron 4 mg, ^{137,138} while being comparable or superior to ondansetron 8 mg. ¹³⁹⁻¹⁴² Clinical trials have also compared ramosetron 0.3 mg with palonosetron 0.075 mg. ^{143,144} A SRMA of 17 RCTs reported that palonosetron 0.075 mg is more effective in preventing late POV and retching than ramosetron 0.3 mg, but there were no differences between groups for PON, PONV, rescue, complete response (no vomiting or use of rescue antiemetic) and side effects. Notably, palonosetron was more effective when administered early in surgery and ramosetron was more effective when given later in surgery. ¹⁴⁵

Tropisetron

Tropisetron, one of the earlier 5-HT₃ RAs, is available in Europe and Asia but not in U.S. The drug is a 5-HT₃ RA with a recommended dose of 2 mg. Tropisetron can be given intravenously either as an infusion or as a slow injection and should be administered shortly before the induction of anesthesia. It has an elimination half-life of 6-8 hours. 2,118,147 A meta-analysis of 14 RCT's, totaling 1,705 patients found that tropisetron (dose ranged from 2-5 mg) was more effective for POV prevention than ondansetron (doses ranged from 4-16 mg). However, there was no difference in PONV, PON

for POV prevention than ondansetron (doses ranged from 4-16 mg). However, there was no difference in PONV, PON and rescue antiemetic use. The incidence of dizziness was higher with ondansetron. ¹⁴⁷ In patients undergoing middle ear surgeries, palonosetron 0.075 mg was more effective in preventing PONV than tropisetron 5 mg and ondansetron 8mg for up to 48 hours. ¹⁴⁸

In a large NMA on antiemetic drugs, the authors assessed primary outcomes for 24-hour POV, serious and any adverse event. The authors ranked the agents in terms of efficacy and safety and found 10 out of 28 single drugs lowered the risk of vomiting. Three of the 5-HT₃ RAs were included: ramosetron, granisetron, and ondansetron. Although tropisetron was ranked as one of the ten most clinically effective single drugs compared to placebo, it had a lower certainty of evidence. Palonosetron was minimally effective with also a lower certainty of evidence. The authors found that the recommended and high doses of granisetron, ondansetron, and tropisetron were similarly effective but more effective than lower doses of each agent. Therefore, the use of recommended doses of these drugs should be adequate for vomiting prevention. The 5-HT₃ RA's class of drugs increased the risk of headache. 118

DEXAMETHASONE

Dexamethasone is commonly used for the prevention of PONV, the recommended dose is 4-8 mg. Dexamethasone was one of the five most effective single drugs for POV prevention in the large NMA, 159 and 8 mg dose seemed to have the optimal antiemetic and analgesic efficacy. 160 Also, in the large pragmatic RCT Perioperative Administration of Dexamethasone and Infection (PADDI) trial with 8,725 patients undergoing noncardiac surgeries, 8 mg IV dexamethasone significantly reduced the incidence of 24-hour PONV and rescue antiemetic requirement. 161 A sub study on patients reported outcomes found that dexamethasone 8 mg did not influence the incidence of clinically significant PONV, but did reduce the incidence of severe PONV. 161,162

A 2018 Cochrane Database of SR examined the adverse side effects of dexamethasone in surgical patients, this included 38 studies involving a variety of surgical procedures. One intraoperative dose of dexamethasone did not increase the risk of postoperative (wound or systemic) infection compared to placebo, or active control with other antiemetics. ¹⁶³ In the PADDI trial, a single 8 mg dose of dexamethasone was found to be noninferior to placebo with respect to surgical site infection within 30 days after surgery (P<0.001 for noninferiority). ¹⁶¹ This finding was true in all prespecified subgroups, including patients with or without diabetes mellitus, and for the individual subtypes of surgical-site infections.

A SR and meta-analysis of 11 studies with 2,567 patients found that dexamethasone led to transient postoperative hyperglycemia in patients with diabetes undergoing elective surgery when given as a single 4-10 mg IV dose for PONV prophylaxis. The magnitude of hyperglycemia is small, and it may not have clinical relevance. In surgical patients with diabetes mellitus, another SRMA of 16 studies found that dexamethasone increased blood glucose by only 2 mmol/L (36 mg/dL) of peak glucose level within 24h of surgery, which had no effect on wound healing. 164

Recently, studies that administered dexamethasone via an intraperitoneal route and found that it is effective in preventing PONV. 165-167 The clinical applicability of such technique is unclear.

DOPAMINE RECEPTOR ANTAGONISTS

Amisulpride

Amisulpride, originally developed as an antipsychotic oral medication, is a D2, D3 antagonist. An IV formulation was recently approved for PONV. While amisulpride 5 mg was more effective vs. placebo (complete response, nausea severity (A2), 169,170 amisulpride 1 and 2 mg were not (A3). As PONV treatment rescue in prophylaxis naïve patients, amisulpride 5 and 10 mg were more effective than placebo (A3). However, for PONV treatment, the amisulpride 10 mg dose was more effective than 5 mg in patients who had prior PONV prophylaxis with a non-antidopaminergic agent (A3). While amisulpride was associated with a mild increase in the level of prolactin, the clinical significance is not clear. For the PONV dose, amisulpride is unlikely to cause QTc prolongation or extrapyramidal side effects. 169-174

In a safety analysis of ECGs for QTc effects, Fox et al¹⁷⁵ reported that amisulpride 10 mg IV, given alone or in combination with ondansetron did not have a clinically significant effect on the QTc interval. In addition, a single preoperative oral dose of amisulpride 25 mg, given two hours before craniotomy for intercranial tumor surgery decreased the incidence and severity of PONV in patients with no adverse effects.¹⁷⁶

Droperidol

For PONV prophylaxis, the recommended dose of droperidol is 0.625–1.25 mg (A1),^{177,178} and optimal timing is the end of surgery (A1).¹⁷⁸ Meta-analyses support its efficacy,^{16,179} specifically related to vomiting.¹⁶ For patients having bimaxillary surgery, droperidol 0.3-1 mg had equal efficacy as granisetron 1.0 mg; however, both were less effective than a droperidol and granisetron combination.¹⁸⁰

The FDA issued a black box warning in 2001 restricting the use of droperidol due to the risk of sudden cardiac death. However, at the doses used for PONV, droperidol's QT prolongation potential is similar to ondansetron. When ondansetron is used in combination with droperidol, the risk of QT prolongation is comparable to either drug alone. A large retrospective PONV prophylaxis study found that patients who received droperidol 0.625 mg had no increase in the risk of ventricular tachycardia. The risk of akathisia is also comparable between ondansetron 4 mg, droperidol 0.625 mg, and droperidol 1.25 mg. 186

Retrospective studies of droperidol use in morphine IV patient controlled analgesia support its PONV efficacy, ^{187,188} without significant adverse events, ¹⁸⁷ and a low rate (0.9%) of adverse events such as extrapyramidal effects (**B1**). ¹⁸⁸ However, a NMA demonstrated low to very low confidence in adverse event and droperidol was associated with decreased severe and overall adverse events (**A1**). ¹⁶ Doses less than 1 mg have been found effective. ¹⁸⁹ Even though there may be a dose related cause for adverse effects, a dose of 0.625 mg was recommended by the panel.

In a SR of antiemetic use after failed prophylaxis, droperidol 1-1.25 mg had equal efficacy as ondansetron 4-8 mg and both were better than propofol. Sedation was a main side effect occurring in 25% of patients who received droperidol. 190

Haloperidol

After droperidol's FDA black box warning, haloperidol's use in PONV increased. For PONV prophylaxis, haloperidol 0.5–2 mg IV has been found effective. Efficacy and side effects (QT prolongation) are comparable with the 5-HT3 receptor antagonists (A1). Siven after anesthesia induction, haloperidol 1 mg had efficacy and side-effects comparable to droperidol 0.625 mg. For PONV prophylaxis, haloperidol 2 mg at anesthesia induction or end of surgery did not change its 24 hour effectiveness. For PONV treatment, haloperidol 1 mg had comparable complete response rate to ondansetron 4 mg at the 4- and 24-hour post surgery, but with more sedation.

For PONV prophylaxis after laparoscopic abdominal hysterectomy, a dose ranging study of haloperidol 0.35, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mg showed effectiveness at all doses except the 0.35 mg dose. No QTc effects, neurologic or extrapyramidal symptoms were observed. Haloperidol 5 mg was found comparable to metoclopramide 10 mg, dexmedetomidine 25 mcg, and ginger for prevention of PONV in laparoscopic cholecystectomy surgery. To decrease postoperative nausea, haloperidol 1 mg was more effective than 5 mg dexamethasone, with no difference in the POV risk.

Metoclopramide

As a monotherapy for PONV prophylaxis, 10 mg of metoclopramide has shown efficacy (A1).²⁰⁰ However, metoclopramide conferred no additional PONV prevention when used in addition to dexamethasone.²⁰¹ In combination with dexamethasone 8 mg, one study showed that metoclopramide 25 or 50 mg (not 10 mg) showed efficacy, but the higher doses were associated with a small increase in extrapyramidal side effects.²⁰⁰ In addition, for PONV prophylaxis through 24 hours, a meta-analysis demonstrated metoclopramide to be significantly inferior to dexamethasone, droperidol, and droperidol/metoclopramide (A1).¹⁷⁹

In cesarean delivery under spinal anesthesia, if administered after cord clamping, metoclopramide provided faster onset of intraoperative antiemetic efficacy than dexamethasone. Alternately, compared to metoclopramide, further studies reported that other antiemetics (ondansetron, dexamethasone, glycopyrrolate) were more effective as single-agent prophylaxis. While metoclopramide may be an alternate choice when other dopamine antagonists are not available, it is not recommended for PONV prophylaxis.

NEUROKININ-1 RECEPTOR ANTAGONISTS

Aprepitant

Aprepitant is a neurokinin-1 (NK-1) receptor antagonist with a half-life of approximately 40 hours, available in oral and parenteral (aprepitant & fosaprepitant) forms (A1).² Aponvie®, a polysorbate 80–free injectable aprepitant, is the most recently released NK-1 receptor antagonist agent for intravenous use and is the only NK-1 IV formulation with the FDA indication for PONV prophylaxis. The drug is available in a 32 mg dose and administered as a 30-second IV injection. The IV aprepitant is bioequivalent to the oral form of aprepitant but each in a different dosage form (IV vs. oral). The IV formulation has a quicker onset of action than the oral formulation and 97% of receptor occupancy is achieved within 5 min of administration.^{206,207}

Previous work has demonstrated greater efficacy of all dosages (40, 80, and 125 mg) in vomiting over nausea.² Previous work has also demonstrated similar or improved PONV prevention efficacy of 40 and 80 mg doses of aprepitant and 150 mg dose of fosaprepitant compared to 5-HT₃ receptor antagonists.² In recent years, there has been an increased focus on 80 mg dosing, likely due to availability in particular geographic regions, but there is absence of direct head to head comparisons of 40 mg to 80 mg.²

Meta-analyses found that aprepitant alone²⁰⁸ or added to a multimodal regimen,²⁰⁹ significantly reduced the risk of PONV. An NMA also supports a high certainty benefit over placebo. Additionally, the analysis found a single neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist was as effective as some combination therapy for prevention of POV (A1).¹⁶

Multiple randomized trials found that aprepitant is comparable or superior to ondansetron for PONV prophylaxis.²¹⁰⁻²¹⁴ A meta-analysis concluded that aprepitant (40 and 80 mg) is more effective for POV prevention compared to 5-HT₃ receptor antagonists.²¹⁵ There is limited evidence suggesting that aprepitant is comparable to ramosetron²¹¹ and palonosetron in efficacy.²¹⁶ In a retrospective study, patients who received fosaprepitant (75 mg IV preoperatively with 75 mg after 24 hours) required less antiemetic rescue than patients who received a multimodal prophylactic regimen (scopolamine patch, intraoperative dexamethasone, ondansetron and promethazine).²¹⁷ Another meta-analysis of several regimens reported fosaprepitant (150 mg) as the most effective prophylaxis related to vomiting in the first 48 hours, and may be even more effective when combined with dexamethasone.²¹⁸ (A1)

Rolapitant

Rolapitant is a long-acting, NK-1 receptor antagonist which may be effective in PDNV because of its half-life of 180 hours.² A NMA demonstrated with very low certainty an uncertain benefit of rolapitant over placebo.¹⁶

Vestipitant

Previous work demonstrated possible efficacy for PONV similar to other NK-1 receptor antagonists (A3).2

Casopitant

Casopitant is being removed from recommendations secondary to lack of widespread global availability.

ANTIHISTAMINES

A 2002 SRMA of 18 trials with 3,045 patients reported that dimenhydrinate was effective for PONV prophylaxis. The optimal dose, time of administration, and side-effect profile when used for PONV prophylaxis are however unclear (A1).²¹⁹ Side effects associated with the use of dimenhydrinate include drowsiness/ sedation,^{220,221} dizziness,¹¹⁸ headache²²¹ and dry mouth.²²⁰

De Oliveira et al. reported that after ambulatory gynecologic surgery, diphenhydramine 50 mg but not 25 mg, reduced the risk of PONV compared to placebo, this was associated with improved quality of recovery.²²² In patients undergoing ear, nose and throat surgery, 30 mg of diphenhydramine significantly reduced the risk of PONV and need for rescue analgesia in the recovery room compared to placebo.²²³ Similarly, when combined with ondansetron in patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve surgery, preinduction 0.4 mg/kg of diphenhydramine reduced the risk of PONV, pain scores and analgesic rescue compared with ondansetron alone (A2).²²⁴ Drowsiness and sedation are the main side effects reported with the use of diphenhydramine.²²⁴

There is limited data investigating the antiemetic efficacy of promethazine. Higher doses of promethazine (12.5-50 mg) are effective as monotherapy²²⁵ or as a part of multimodal regimen, but their use was also associated with greater sedation which delayed mobilization.²²⁶

Lower doses of promethazine are effective for both the prophylaxis and treatment of PONV. In women undergoing abdominal hysterectomy, promethazine 0.1 mg/kg before induction or at the end of surgery reduced the risk of nausea, vomiting and need for rescue, compared to placebo. Promethazine-granisetron combination resulted in higher complete response rate than promethazine alone. Promethazine is also effective for the rescue treatment of established PONV, with the 6.25 mg dose being as effective as higher doses and associated with less sedation. This dose has also been reported to be significantly more effective than metoclopramide 10 mg for the treatment of PONV in PACU. Side effects associated with promethazine include drowsiness/sedation, and potential for skin necrosis with IV extravasation, particularly at high concentrations.

ANTICHOLINERGICS

Transdermal scopolamine reduces the risk of PONV in PACU and for 24 hours after surgery. The onset of action is 2-4 hours following its transdermal application, and with a duration of effect of 72 hours, it can be applied on the day of surgery or the night before surgery.^{232,233} There is some evidence that scopolamine may reduce intraoperative nausea in women having regional anesthesia for cesarean section.²³⁴ It is generally well tolerated with the most common side effects reported being visual disturbances, dry mouth, and dizziness (A1).^{232,233} Recent evidence suggests that transdermal scopolamine may increase the risk of postoperative urinary retention, especially following urogynecologic procedures.^{235,236} In this patient population, other antiemetics option may be considered to reduce the incidence of urinary retention (A3).

DEXMEDETOMIDINE

Systemic α2 agonists (clonidine or dexmedetomidine) administration decreases the risk of PONV (A1).²³⁷ The reduction in the risk of PONV has been demonstrated in various surgical procedures including laparoscopic cholecystectomy, ^{238,239} thoracic surgery, ²⁴⁰ gynecological surgery, ²⁴¹ bariatric surgery ^{242,243} and strabismus surgery. ²⁴⁴ The use of dexmedetomidine has however been associated with increased risk of bradycardia ^{238,245} and hypotension. ^{237,238,243} Interestingly, dexmedetomidine was associated with reduced risk of oculocardiac reflex following strabismus surgery. ²⁴⁴ When added to a PCA regimen with opioids, dexmedetomidine was associated with a reduction in opioid consumption, pain scores, PONV and pruritus (A1). ²⁴⁶ When compared with remifentanil infusion for controlled hypotension, dexmedetomidine was associated with less pain, PONV and shivering in PACU (A1). ²⁴⁷

In patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy, dexmedetomidine 1 µg/kg before skin incision was comparable to dexamethasone 8 mg for PONV prevention, while also reduced postoperative pain.⁸⁷ The combination of intraoperative dexmedetomidine and lidocaine infusions reduced PONV risk, postoperative pain and improved postoperative quality of recovery following laparoscopic hysterectomy, but this was at the expense of increased risk of sedation and bradycardia and prolongation of the duration of PACU stay.^{248,249}

EPHEDRINE

When given towards the end of surgery, ephedrine 0.5 mg/kg IM was more effective than placebo and as effective as droperidol 0.04 mg/kg IM for PONV prophylaxis.^{250,251} In one study the antiemetic effect was confined to the early postoperative period (3 hours).²⁵¹ Another study suggested that IM ephedrine 0.5 mg/kg is less effective than dexmedetomidine or dexamethasone for the prophylaxis against PONV.²⁵² When administered IM before reversal of neuromuscular blockade, 30 mg IM ephedrine was found to be more effective than a 15 mg dose for PONV prophylaxis in patients undergoing laparoscopic tubal ligation (A2).²⁵³

OLANZAPINE

Olanzapine is an atypical antipsychotic drug that is used for the prophylaxis against chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (CINV). It acts as an antagonist on dopaminergic, serotonergic and histaminergic receptors. When combined with ondansetron and dexamethasone, the addition of 10 mg olanzapine decreased the risk of PONV in the first 24h by 60% after ambulatory surgery ²⁵⁴ and by 59% in patients at high-risk for PONV and a history of CINV undergoing cancer surgery. ²⁵⁵ The reduction in the risk of PONV was confirmed in a meta-analysis involving 4 studies, which reported 49% reduction with doses of 10 mg. ²⁵⁶

BENZODIAZEPINES

A recent meta-analysis of 119 RCTs reported with moderate certainty of evidence that the use of benzodiazepines was associated with a 33% reduction in the risk of PONV, 28% reduction in the risk of nausea and 26% reduction in the risk of vomiting. The meta-analysis could not however assess optimal dosing and time of administration or whether there are differences in antiemetic efficacy between the different benzodiazepines (A1). Given the risk of sedation, the panel does not recommend the use of benzodiazepines solely for the indication of PONV prophylaxis.

NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL OPTIONS

Aromatherapy

A Cochrane SR with 16 studies (n=1036) reported that, overall, aromatherapy reduced the need for rescue antiemetics but the incidence or severity of nausea, with low to very low quality of evidence. Peppermint aromatherapy did not reduce the severity of nausea (low level of evidence). When compared to a standard antiemetic, isopropyl alcohol inhalation, reduced the time to 50% reduction in nausea scores, and reduced the need for rescue antiemetics with no difference in patient satisfaction between the groups (moderate level of evidence). On the other hand, there was no difference in the need for rescue antiemetics between isopropyl alcohol inhalation and placebo. A recent SR involving thirteen RCTs (11 in PACU, 8 treatment, 3 prophylaxis, and 3 in the emergency department, n=1253) concluded that the evidence for the use of isopropyl alcohol for PONV is low and more large studies are needed to evaluate its effectiveness. A recent study reported that lemon aromatherapy started the morning of surgery was effective for reducing the frequency and severity of PONV as well as the need for rescue antiemetics (A3). More studies are needed to confirm those findings.

Ginger

Ginger might have benefit for PONV prophylaxis but data regarding the benefits of ginger are inconsistent. Further well-designed studies are needed to outline several use considerations including dose, frequency, and efficacy in various populations. 261,262

Acupoint stimulation

A Cochrane review including 59 trials with 7,667 subjects reported a significant reduction in the risk of nausea, vomiting, and the need for rescue antiemetics with the 6th point of the pericardial meridian (PC6) stimulation compared with sham (A1). PC6 stimulation was also as effective as other antiemetics for PONV prophylaxis. Timing of stimulation (before or after induction of anesthesia) did not impact antiemetic efficacy. ²⁶³ The reduction in the risk of PONV with acupoint stimulation has also been associated with improved quality of recovery after surgery. ²⁶⁴ Application of the neuromuscular function electrodes over the median nerve is effective in reducing the incidence of early PONV, especially when tetanic stimulation is used. ²⁶⁵

Chewing Gum

Chewing gum has been investigated for both the prophylaxis and treatment for PONV. When used for treating established PONV, a small pilot study suggested that chewing gum was non-inferior to ondansetron following laparoscopic or breast surgery (A3).²⁶⁶ On the other hand, chewing gum does not appear to be an effective modality for prophylaxis,^{267,268} but large well-designed studies are needed (A2).

COMBINATION THERAPY

Since the last Consensus Guideline, there has been an exponential increase in the number of antiemetic combinations reported in the literature (table 2). The panel continues to recommend the use of general multimodal PONV prevention in adults. There is robust evidence that appropriate use of combination therapy is likely to be more effective than monotherapy ²⁶⁹⁻²⁹². However, not all combination therapies have demonstrated superiority when compared to their individual component drugs.

A NMA by Weibel et al reviewed an extensive number of monotherapy and combination options for the prevention of PONV. This analysis has facilitated indirect comparisons between combination therapies and their respective component drugs. Based on the primary outcome of 24-hour POV, options which demonstrated superiority over at least one constituent antiemetic included NK-1 receptor antagonist plus 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist, NK-1 receptor antagonist plus dexamethasone, and 5-HT₃ antagonists plus dexamethasone.

The combination of 5-HT₃ antagonists and dexamethasone remains the most well-studied combination for PONV prophylaxis. 16,293 An earlier meta-analysis of 17 studies and 1,402 participants reported that combination prophylaxis resulted in significantly less PONV and rescue antiemetic requirements. 286 Subgroup analysis according to individual drugs showed that ondansetron and palonosetron demonstrated significant reduction in PONV (A1). This result was followed by a subsequent meta-analysis evaluating the efficacy of dexamethasone in addition to palonosetron. The pooled data from 12 RCTs demonstrated a marginal, albeit statistically significant reduction in rescue antiemetic requirements. 294 Palonosetron is also effective when used in combination with methylprednisolone. Tropisetron in addition to dexamethasone was effective in reducing PONV in both thyroidectomy and gynecological procedures (A2). 296,297 As covered in the 2020 guideline, ramosetron is also effective in combination with dexamethasone (A2). 279,283

The previous guideline supported the use of aprepitant in combination with 5-HT₃ antagonists. The NMA on PONV prevention reported that aprepitant was effective when used in addition to ondansetron, ramosetron, and palonosetron (A1).¹⁶ The same study also reported that aprepitant is effective in addition to dexamethasone (A1).¹⁶ A SRMA evaluated the efficacy of aprepitant in combination with other antiemetics; in a subgroup analysis of 3 studies, the addition of aprepitant 80 mg to ondansetron, dexamethasone, and propofol TIVA resulted in significantly lower incidence of PONV.²⁰⁹ Similarly, fosaprepitant is also effective when used in addition to other antiemetics.²⁹⁸ The panel notes that while several recent studies administered 80 mg aprepitant,^{299,300} the FDA currently recommends 40 mg for the PONV prevention. However, this formulation is not uniformly available worldwide.

The previous guideline cited an RCT of 1,147 patients, which reported that amisulpride in addition to ondansetron or dexamethasone resulted in lower PONV and rescue antiemetic than ondansetron or dexamethasone monotherapy.

A more recent study reported that PO amisulpride before surgery in addition to ondansetron resulted in significantly less rescue antiemetic requirement (A2).

Neither study reported any cases of extrapyramidal side effects associated with amisulpride use.

Olanzapine has a relatively long half-life and appears to be promising for preventing PDNV.²⁵⁴ Two recent RCTs reported that 10 mg PO olanzapine, in addition to ondansetron and dexamethasone significantly reduced PONV.^{254,255} The most common side effect is sedation, while transient visual changes have also been reported.²⁵⁴ Neither trial reported any cases of extrapyramidal side effects.

The NMA on PONV prevention reported that haloperidol is effective when used in addition to ondansetron (A1).¹⁶ Two recent RCTs of patients with moderate PONV risk undergoing gynecological procedures reported that droperidol in addition to dexamethasone is effective for reducing PONV (A2).^{296,301} As reported in the prior guideline, droperidol is effective when used in combination with ondansetron,³⁰² granisetron, ³⁰³ and palonosetron.³⁰⁴ Haloperidol is effective when used in combination with dexamethasone (A2)^{275,284} and midazolam (A2).^{270,274}

The recommendation regarding antihistamines as a part of combination therapy remains largely unchanged. Betahistine is effective when added to ondansetron (A2).^{273,282} Dexamethasone 8 mg plus dimenhydrinate 1mg/kg was more effective than dexamethasone 8 mg plus ondansetron 4 mg (A3) in a small RCT of rhinoplasty patients.³⁰⁵ A recent RCT of patients undergoing sleeve gastrectomy reported that diphenhydramine in addition to ondansetron was effective in reducing PONV (A3).²²⁴

In a SRMA by Grant et al, midazolam is effective when used in addition to other antiemetics (**A1**). The authors reported that lower (<0.05 mg/kg) doses of midazolam are as effective for PONV and may minimize side effects. A NMA of PONV prevention strategies after cholecystectomy reported that droperidol in addition to midazolam resulted in higher complete response rate when compared to midazolam alone (**A1**). On the other hand, two RCTs evaluated the efficacy of 0.05 mg/kg midazolam in addition to 0.075 mg palonosetron and reported that the addition of midazolam was not effective in reducing PONV. 307,308

Combination therapy with more than two agents was a relatively novel research topic at the time of the last guideline. Since then, there have been several studies that introduced a third or a fourth antiemetic and demonstrated clinical benefits. Aprepitant 40 mg PO before surgery as a fourth prophylactic intervention (in addition to ondansetron, dexamethasone and propofol TIVA) significantly reduced the incidence of PONV.²⁰⁹ Olanzapine 10 mg PO before surgery in addition to ondansetron 8 mg and dexamethasone 8 mg also resulted in lower PONV incidence^{254,255}. Haloperidol in addition to ondansetron and dexamethasone was more effective than promethazine plus ondansetron and dexamethasone.³⁰⁹ In an RCT of patients undergoing sleeve gastrectomy, patients received ondansetron plus dexamethasone, with or without aprepitant 80 mg, scopolamine patch, and propofol TIVA. The combination of the 5 antiemetic interventions resulted in significantly lower PONV severity, but it is not clear whether the three additional interventions all contributed to the clinical benefit.³⁰⁰ More research is required on the efficacy of adding a third or fourth antiemetic in high-risk patients.

Since the last consensus guideline, there has been an exponential increase in the number of different antiemetic combinations reported within the literature. However, not all combination antiemetic studies adequately addressed the question of whether the additional antiemetic led to clinical benefit (for example, combination of antiemetics A+B compared to monotherapy with antiemetic C). While these comparisons may reflect changes in practice for specific clinical scenarios, they offer limited insight into the efficacy of the additional antiemetic. A list of experimental combinations tested in clinical trials are summarized in SDC table S5. Experimental evaluation of antiemetics used in conjunction with risk reduction interventions are summarized in SDC table S6.

The NMA by Weibel et al indicate that some antiemetic combinations may be more effective than others in preventing PONV (e.g. aprepitant + palonosetron is more effective than dexamethasone + metoclopramide). While it does not contain every possible antiemetic combination, their findings provide an evidence-based approach to designing combination antiemetic regimens beyond using agents from a different pharmacologic class. As discussed in the previous guideline, there are currently limited data regarding whether antiemetics could be administered at lower doses when used as a part of multimodal prophylaxis. On the other hand, several clinical trials administered antiemetics at doses higher than the current recommendation, e.g. aprepitant 80 mg vs. 40 mg, droperidol 1-1.25 mg vs. 0.625 mg, and tropisetron 5-10 mg vs. 2 mg. 285,296,299-302,311

Lastly, several studies have reported the use of nonpharmacological interventions as part of combination therapies. Needle acupuncture at PC6 reduces 24-hour PONV when used in addition to ondansetron and dexamethasone. Electrostimulation of PC6 and ST36 acupoints reduced PONV and antiemetic requirement when used in addition to multimodal pharmaco-prophylaxis with tropisetron and dexamethasone. Electroacupuncture at PC6 and ST36 is also effective when used in addition to dexamethasone, 5-HT₃ antagonists and propofol TIVA. Two prior meta-analyses concluded that while acupoint stimulation is effective when used in addition to pharmacological prophylaxis, the quality of evidence is low due to study limitations and heterogeneity. In an RCT of patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery, aromatherapy with isopropyl alcohol before surgery in addition to intraoperative ondansetron did not significantly reduce the risk of PONV. The properties of the properties o

GUIDELINE 4. PROVIDE ANTIEMETIC TREATMENT TO PATIENTS WITH PONV WHO DID NOT RECEIVE PROPHYLAXIS OR WHEN PROPHYLAXIS FAILED

In the review of the literature in adults since the 2020 Consensus Guidelines, the recommendation remains unchanged for rescue antiemetics. The panel continues to recommend patients should receive antiemetic treatment from a different agent and/or pharmacological class to the PONV administered prophylactic agents. Redosing agents of the same class does not provide a benefit. If more than 6 hours has elapsed, administration of a second dose of a 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist or butyrophenone may be considered if no alternatives are available. 1,2,320-322 We propose an algorithmic approach to risk assessment, mitigation, PONV prophylaxis and rescue treatment (figure 2).

Antiemetics such as aprepitant, fosaprepitant, and palonosetron, have a prolonged action and clinicians should avoid redosing these agents in the recovery area. 154,323,324 If the anesthesia professional is considering a second dose of a long-acting agent, they should follow package insert information on redosing. The drug effect/duration for dexamethasone for the prevention of PONV is unclear and assumed to have a longer duration of action. Dexamethasone is used in combination with other antiemetics for prevention and is not commonly repeated as treatment therapy for breakthrough PONV. 325 Transdermal scopolamine is another long-acting antiemetic that would typically not be used in the recovery area since the onset of action is approximately 2-4 hours and breakthrough PONV should be treated with agents that have quick/immediate onset of action for patient comfort. 326 A new IV injection formulation of aprepitant (Aponvie®) provides an alternative to oral aprepitant for treatment of PONV in the PACU, though no specific rescue study has been performed.

There is inadequate published evidence on PONV rescue treatment. The lack of evidence presents a challenge in developing evidence-based guidelines or recommendations on the optimal agent, dose, route, tolerability, and safety profile.³²⁷

Because of the lack of RCTs, higher-grade evidence, and current studies with today's practices and medications, it may be tempting to assume that drugs which are effective for PONV prophylaxis would also be effective for rescue treatment. This may not be the best approach but it is the option used by frontline anesthesia professionals without more research in this area.¹⁹⁰

A recent SR focused on PONV rescue treatments after failed prophylaxis or no prophylaxis. Forty-five RCTs were included. 190

For the treatment of PONV in antiemetic naive patients, the review found: 190

- Dose adjustments may not be needed when treating breakthrough PONV with the 5-HT₃ receptor antagonists above the doses used for prophylaxis.
- Newer 5-HT_a agents did not show improved efficacy over ondansetron. (A3, moderate certainty)
- Droperidol 1 to 1.25 mg has comparable efficacy as ondansetron at the recommended dose of 4 to 8 mg, (A3, low certainty)
- Droperidol was found to be more effective than dexamethasone 8 mg and metoclopramide 10 mg (A3, low certainty)
- Metoclopramide 10 mg is significantly less effective than ondansetron and droperidol (A2, moderate certainty).
- Propofol 20-40 mg is effective as treatment for PONV (A3, low certainty)

The more important findings of the review were from trials where prophylaxis was given but failed.

The studies indicate: 190

- For patients failing ondansetron prophylaxis, redosing with ondansetron or other 5-HT₃ antagonists did not provide further benefits (A3, low certainty)
- Promethazine 6.25 mg and higher shows to be more effective in patients who failed ondansetron prophylaxis over the redosing of ondansetron (**B1**, low certainty).
- For promethazine, there is not an apparent dose response in the range of 6.25-25 mg, hence the lowest dose is recommended.
- The higher doses of promethazine in this range have been associated with sedation.

POST-DISCHARGE NAUSEA AND VOMITING

Post-discharge nausea and vomiting (PDNV) presents a significant risk to discharged postoperative patients who no longer have access to fast onset IV antiemetics or direct care after being discharged from the hospital or medical facility. The management of PDNV can be categorized into extended prophylaxis and extended treatment.

A study of 2,170 US outpatients reported the incidence of PDNV to be 37% in the first 48 hours after discharge and identified five independent predictors of PDNV: female gender, age <50 years, history of PONV, opioid use in the PACU, and nausea in the PACU. Solvation of a simplified PDNV risk score based on these risk factors found that the incidence of PDNV with 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 of these risk factors to be about 7%, 20%, 28%, 53%, 60%, and 89%, respectively (figure 1b).



Extended Prophylaxis

Extended nausea and vomiting prophylaxis is essential to the prevention of PDNV. Options for extended prophylaxis include single-dose long-acting antiemetics, or post-discharge oral antiemetics.

In the first RCT, Hyman et al²⁵⁴ report that olanzapine PO 10 mg combined with ondansetron and dexamethasone decreased the risk of 24-hour PDNV by approximately 60%, as compared to placebo, after discharge from ambulatory surgery. However, there was a slight increase in sedation (A3).

Another RCT found that ramosetron 0.1 mg orally disintegrating tablets (ODT) significantly reduced the incidence and severity of 24-hour PDNV in female patients undergoing ambulatory surgery (**A3**). ODT may be a valuable option for the management of PDNV after ambulatory surgery.

The administration of palonosetron, a long-acting antiemetic, significantly reduced the incidence of PDNV and use of rescue antiemetics on POD 1 and 2, when compared to placebo. ³²⁹ Palonosetron arm also had significantly lower incidence of PDNV and use of rescue antiemetics on POD 1 and 2. However, palonosetron did not reduce total incidence of PDNV in the first two postoperative days. Palonosetron may be beneficial for patients at high risk for PDNV, although further investigation is needed (A3).^{329,330} In summary, patients at high risk of PDNV should be given prophylactic, long acting antiemetics before discharge (B1).⁵¹

GUIDELINE 5. POSTOPERATIVE NAUSEA AND VOMITING IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS – RISK PREDICTION, MITIGATION, AND PROPHYLAXIS

In the pediatric literature, POV and PONV are considered distinct entities. POV is a more objective outcome, where the subjective assessment of nausea is more difficult. Moreover, risk assessment for POV/PONV in pediatric patients differs from that in the adult population. Predictive models for PONV developed in adults, such as the Apfel score, are poorly suited to pediatric POV, exhibiting low discriminating power and inconsistent calibration.³³¹

Since the publication of the previous guidelines, no new pediatric-specific risk models for POV/PONV have been developed. Currently, two general models exist: the Vomiting in the Postoperative Period (VPOP) score (figure 3a) ³³² and the Postoperative Vomiting in Children (POVOC) score (figure 3b). ³³³ Both models show modest discriminating ability in internal validation. However, predicted risk values for POV differ across these two scores, particularly as each increase towards its maximum.

While the discriminating capabilities of both the POVOC and VPOP scores are only modest, they are comparable to that of the most widely used adult models, such as the simplified Apfel score and Koivuranta score. ³³⁴ Beyond the risk factors identified by these two models, other factors have been recognized, including post-pubertal female status, use of anticholinesterases, and the use of volatile anesthetics (compared to TIVA). ² Although using validated multivariable models such as POVOC and VPOP for risk prediction is the ideal approach, the age of these models and potential significance of additional risk factors justify an *ad hoc* approach to defining risk, combining elements from both scores with other risk factors through a simple additive approach (B1). These risk factors are outlined in figure 3. However, when employing this approach (e.g., using a non-validated prediction model), calibration and discrimination remain undefined, precluding numerical risk estimation and permitting only a relative categorization of risk.

APPROACH TO POV/PONV PREVENTION IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS

For evidence-based prevention of POV/PONV in children, we propose a multi-step, algorithmic approach as outlined in figure 4. This begins with an assessment of baseline risk, considering both patient and procedural details, and can take the form of basic risk factor summation in the absence of new robust multivariable prediction models. This assessment is then used to define the relative level of risk for each patient, which in turn determines the approach to: (1) baseline risk mitigation (SDC table S7) and (2) administration of prophylactic agents (table 3). For patients without clear risk factors, we recommend using one prophylactic antiemetic agent, unless otherwise contraindicated, given the similar rates of POV seen in these patients compared to those with one risk factor (figure 3). Patients with 1-2 risk factors should receive combination prophylactic therapy with two agents, most commonly ondansetron and dexamethasone. Higher risk patients (3+ risk factors) should receive at least two-agent combination prophylactic therapy. Given the lack of sufficient evidence for addition of a third agent in these patients, attention should instead be focused on sufficient risk mitigation techniques.

RISK MITIGATION

Total Intravenous Anesthesia (TIVA)

No new studies have examined the effects of propofol-based TIVA on POV/PONV since publication of the previous guidelines. Two previous meta-analyses found that TIVA reduces POV and PONV rates compared to inhalational anesthesia with single-agent prophylaxis³³⁵ or inhalational anesthesia alone (A1, SDC table S7).³³⁶ Two smaller studies—one retrospective and one prospective randomized—suggest a protective role for subhypnotic propofol during volatile agent maintenance, with doses ranging from <100 mcg/kg/min to 20 mcg/kg/min (A3).^{337,338} Therefore, if full TIVA is not feasible, a subhypnotic infusion of propofol may serve as a risk mitigating strategy (A3).

Fluid Therapy and Dextrose Loading

Traditionally, "liberal" fluid therapy has been regarded as protective against POV/PONV in children, a view supported by small RCTs comparing different fluid administration methods.³³⁹ A meta-analysis consolidating these trials evaluated "liberal" versus "standard" fluid therapy, finding that "liberal" fluid therapy reduced POV and PONV.³⁴⁰ Notably, though, there was substantial heterogeneity across trials with respect to the definition of both liberal and control groups. An earlier Cochrane meta-analysis³⁴¹ similarly found that, compared to adults, intravenous crystalloids in pediatric patients were somewhat effective in lowering the risk of POV but were less effective in reducing the need for pharmacological treatment for PONV. This evidence base suggests that adequate hydration is protective in pediatric patients, although the optimal regimen remains unclear (A1).

Carbohydrate loading and dextrose therapy were investigated in three heterogeneous randomized trials. One trial found that a carbohydrate drink two hours prior to induction did not reduce the rate of POV when compared to a similar volume of flavored water.³⁴² A second study found administration of a carbohydrate drink reduced gastric content volume and PONV when compared to a standard fasting protocol.³⁴³ This study did *not* use a sham pre-operative drink, and thus the control group was allowed *ad lib* PO intake based on fasting guidelines. The discrepant findings across these studies may be due to the difference in volume and not a true protective effect of carbohydrates (C2). A third trial examined the use of intraoperative 5% dextrose maintenance fluids combined with dexamethasone compared to dual-agent prophylaxis (ondansetron and dexamethasone), finding a non-statistically significant *increase* in POV in the dextrose group.³⁴⁴ Based on these findings, intraoperative dextrose-containing fluids, when combined with dexamethasone, is not protective against PONV when compared to dual-agent prophylaxis (A3). Finally, one small RCT indicates that early oral fluid intake in the post-anesthesia care unit (PACU) is preferable to restrictive intake for reducing opioid requirement and PONV (A3).³⁴⁵

Neuraxial and Regional Anesthesia

The efficacy of neuraxial and regional anesthesia as opioid-minimizing strategies for perioperative pain management and their role in PONV prevention remain challenging to evaluate due to underreporting and the lack of PONV as the primary outcome focus on most studies. We encountered several meta-analyses comparing various neuraxial and regional techniques to conventional care, yet these studies show wide variation in protocols and sometimes produce contradictory outcomes. In a comprehensive NMA of inguinal hernia repairs, specific regional and neuraxial methods, such as the transversus abdominis plane block, quadratus lumborum block, and caudal block, were more effective than systemic opioid administration in preventing PONV, albeit their advantage over local wound infiltration was uncertain. Two additional meta-analyses reported conflicting findings: a reduction in PONV with the use of erector spinae plane blocks and no benefit of serratus anterior plane blocks. Overall, while regional and neuraxial anesthesia offer varying degrees of protection against PONV, the adoption of these approaches as part of a risk mitigation strategy should be tailored to the type of surgical intervention and individual patient factors (C1).

Adjuvant Therapies

A recent meta-analysis found a protective effect of lidocaine against POV, but not PONV, with the overall quality of evidence rated as 'very low'. 349 Importantly, the trials not finding a reduction in PONV utilized a single lidocaine bolus, in contrast to one of the trials reporting POV prevention using both a bolus and a continuous infusion. These observations align with subsequent research indicating a lidocaine bolus followed by an infusion may decrease POV, though this regimen's superiority to monotherapy with agents like dexamethasone is not definitive (C1). 350

Two randomized studies have demonstrated that intravenous acetaminophen decreases PONV rates in pediatric patients undergoing strabismus surgery, although its effect outside the strabismus surgery demographic remains to be established (A2).351,352

Alpha-2 agonists (clonidine and dexmedetomidine) have been studied as risk mitigating interventions for PONV in children. Premedication with intranasal dexmedetomidine reduces PONV rates compared to intranasal midazolam or clonidine (A1). In meta-analytic data, intravenous dexmedetomidine (0.25 to 1 mcg/kg) reduces both PONV and risk for the oculocardiac reflex during strabismus procedures (A1). Oral clonidine pre-medication (4 mcg/kg) is also effective compared to placebo and oral midazolam; an effect not observed at lower (2 mcg/kg) doses (A1). Notably, these studies predominantly involve strabismus surgery and their effectiveness beyond this specific population warrants further exploration.

Miscellaneous Factors

Since the release of the previous guidelines a limited number of studies appraising additional risk reduction strategies have been published. A randomized study investigating the influence of intraoperative fractional inspired oxygen (FiO2) found that varying levels of FiO2—80% compared to 30%—did not result in differences in PONV.³⁵⁶ A small RCT assessed the timing of fentanyl administration and its effect on PONV following adenotonsillectomy and found no difference when fentanyl was given 10-15 minutes prior to, versus at the conclusion of, the procedure³⁵⁷. The benefit of hypopharyngeal packing during adenotonsillectomy was examined in a recent randomized trial in pediatric patients with obstructive sleep apnea,³⁵⁸ finding a negligible difference in PONV rate. In summary, based on available evidence, intraoperative FiO2 levels, timing of intraoperative opioid administration, and use of hypopharyngeal packing do not appear to have a major impact on PONV in the pediatric population (C2).

PROPHYLACTIC ANTIEMETICS: AN ALGORITHMIC PERSPECTIVE

Historical guidelines have favored a risk-tailored iterative approach for prophylactic antiemetic administration, adjusting the number of agents prescribed based on the patient's baseline risk. However, studies highlight that clinicians' adherence to risk-based adjustments in PONV prophylaxis is suboptimal.³⁵⁹ Moreover, recent findings indicate low-risk patients appear to benefit from prophylaxis that aligns with guideline recommendations, while high-risk patients do not show improvement from additional prophylactic measures. 360 This is underlined by the fact that major pediatric risk prediction models show a negligible difference in the predicted risk for POV between patients with zero and one risk factors (9% and 5% versus 10% and 6%, respectively), and the lack of robust evidence for prophylactic regimens with greater than two pharmacologic agents. The absence of pragmatic RCT makes it difficult to establish an optimal algorithmic prophylaxis approach in pediatric settings. Nevertheless, given the existing data and the favorable safety profiles of widely researched agents such as ondansetron and dexamethasone, we advocate for a blended strategy. For pediatric patients without risk factors, the use of a single prophylactic agent (preferably ondansetron or dexamethasone) is recommended, while escalating to a two-agent regimen (typically combining ondansetron and dexamethasone) is advisable for patients with one or two risk factors. For patients presenting with three or more risk factors, the current evidence does not conclusively favor the routine addition of a third agent. In these high-risk scenarios, emphasis should be placed on modifying baseline risk factors through various interventions (such as elimination of nitrous oxide, use of propofol-based total intravenous anesthesia, administration of local and regional anesthesia techniques, incorporation of multimodal analgesia, and minimization of opioid use).

PROPHYLACTIC ANTIEMETIC AGENTS

Propofol

Evidence supporting the role of propofol as an antiemetic and risk mitigation strategy is outlined in the risk mitigation section.

5-HT, Receptor Antagonists:

The effectiveness and safety of 5-HT₃ receptor antagonists, particularly ondansetron (0.05 mg/kg to 0.1 mg/kg) in children are well established (**A1**, table 3).² Regarding QTc prolongation concerns, a study comparing ondansetron (0.2 mg/kg) to dexamethasone (0.1 mg/kg) in children receiving cochlear implants found significant PONV reduction without notable QTc changes, although caution continues to be advised in patients with existing cardiac conduction issues.³⁶¹

Dexamethasone:

Dexamethasone (0.1-0.5 mg/kg) is a highly effective antiemetic in pediatric patients (A1), with meta-analyses confirming its superiority over placebo. Although a dose-response relationship was qualitatively observed in one such study, no significant dose-based subgroup differences were statistically significant.³⁶² This finding is consistent with several retrospective and randomized trials across varied surgeries.³⁶³⁻³⁶⁷ The recommended dose of dexamethasone for PONV prophylaxis in children is 0.15 mg/kg up to 4 mg.

NK1 Receptor Antagonists:

Updated pharmacokinetic data on weight-based dosing of aprepitant in pediatric patients suffering CINV, indicate adolescent plasma concentrations are akin to those observed in adults on fixed-dose regimens (**A3**). Robust efficacy data for POV/PONV are limited in this population, however, and should be the subject of future investigation.

COMBINATION THERAPY:

Combination therapy in pediatric patients is often superior to single agent prophylaxis (table 3). The evidence for such superiority is particularly strong for dexamethasone with ondansetron (A1), and more limited for other combinations such as dexamethasone with tropisetron, and ondansetron with droperidol (A3).² However, dexamethasone and droperidol are noted to be less effective than a dexamethasone and ondansetron pairing.³⁶⁹ In high-risk pediatric groups (3+ risk factors), a single retrospective study suggests a benefit when adding a third agent (scopolamine or diphenhydramine) to ondansetron and dexamethasone.³⁷⁰ This finding from a retrospective analysis using historical controls necessitates cautious interpretation, further evidence on three agent regimens is necessary.



NON-PHARMACOLOGIC INTERVENTIONS

A recent SRMA³⁷¹ assessed the efficacy of acupuncture and acupressure, particularly at acupoint PC6, for reducing PONV in pediatric patients. This review found evidence for a benefit in early POV, albeit with high heterogeneity and moderate to very-low evidence quality. Additional single center trials³⁷² and case series³⁷³ have investigated acupuncture in pediatric patients, with some evidence for early improvement in PONV. Overall, evidence appears to suggest acupuncture, particularly at PC6, may provide relief from early PONV in pediatric patients (A1).

Aromatherapy, using substances like isopropyl alcohol and peppermint oil, has garnered interest as a non-invasive prophylactic measure against PONV. A Cochrane review²⁵⁸ reported a tentative benefit of aromatherapy, though evidence is of low to moderate quality.

GUIDELINE 6. ENSURE MULTIMODAL PONV PREVENTION AND TIMELY RESCUE TREATMENT ARE IMPLEMENTED IN THE CLINICAL SETTING

ECONOMICS OF PONV MANAGEMENT

Cost containment policy in the hospital environment has typically focused upon drug acquisition cost and the cost of an undesirable outcome should the drug not be used. There are, however, additional considerations when assessing the cost effectiveness. Values to consider include clinical outcomes, quality (patient safety, experience of care), patient-reported outcomes (quality of life, functional outcomes), and operational efficiency (personnel/space/operational outcomes), while additional costs includes resources and personel.³⁷⁴ The authors go on to discuss enabling principles which include efficient deployment of resources, having a culture of safety and appropriate patient selection and perioperative risk stratification. Hirsch additionally suggested that in addition to analyzing the typical health care system direct, indirect and opportunity costs we should also evaluate costs from the patient perspective.³⁷⁵ These include direct costs (cost of additional visits) and indirect costs (lost income and caregiver costs).³⁷⁶

Jotwani et. al. analyzed the cost of racial disparities in perioperative care. They found a 15% reduced antiemetic prophylaxis in Black vs. non-Black patients. They found an increase in direct and indirect costs as a result of this disparity. Not all countries have the resources to routinely administer PONV prophylaxis. Fentie et al described that 37.6% of health professionals in Ethiopian referral hospitals practiced prophylaxis based on availability and cost of the medications. 377

Providers do not always know the costs involved with administering various anti-emetics. Mehallow and team investigated departmental cost-awareness and likelihood to consider cost for PONV medications. Presentation of data to their department increased the likelihood for the providers to consider acquisition costs of PONV medications. No evidence was provided that this intervention changed provider practices or patient outcomes.³⁷⁸

There are also many low-cost non-pharmacologic therapies to prevent and treat PONV, e.g. herbals, mindfulness and acupuncture. Although their impact on PONV may be small and clinically modest in many cases, it can be more meaningful in other cases. Mindfulness for patients undergoing surgery may be a cost-effective and potentially underrated tool for improving outcomes. Many studies have demonstrated that enhanced recovery pathways lead to a reduction in PONV rates and cost of care. These evidence-based examples of PONV prophylaxis as part of ERAS lead to decreased costs of care. The direct impact of PONV reduction on the length of stay is not discussed: PONV prophylaxis forms an important part of many ERAS interventions.

PONV is associated with poorer postoperative quality of life and is associated with both institutional and patient costs. More studies are needed to examine cost economic benefits associated with rescue treatment for PONV.

GUIDELINE 7. INCLUSION OF MULTIMODAL PROPHYLACTIC ANTIEMETICSAS ENHANCED RECOVERY ELEMENTS

Enhanced recovery protocols provide multimodal approaches to minimize the stresses of surgery with the aim of improving recovery, decreasing complication rates, and shortening the length of hospital stays. Enhanced recovery pathways (ERPs) do not exist in a vacuum but rather span a continuum of various elements, starting from preoperative counseling and carbohydrate loading to intraoperative components such as euvolemia, normothermia, multimodal analgesia, adjunct peripheral nerve blocks to postoperative considerations such as early mobilization and removal of drains.³⁸³

Multimodal PONV prophylaxis constitutes a major cornerstone of enhanced recovery protocols, with risk mitigating interventions such as the use of propofol-based TIVA, adequate hydration, opioid-sparing analgesia, and regional anesthesia. Management of ERP patients should include at least two antiemetics for PONV prophylaxis and additional antiemetics as needed for patients at higher risk. Various studies have included PONV management in the context of ERP protocols. The key studies representing different surgical subspecialties are summarized in SDC table S8.

Although most studies did not investigate the impact of a specific ERP element on PONV rates and there was a variability in ERP protocols, the implementation of ERPs appears to play a prominent role in minimizing PONV. It is the panel's consensus that risk mitigation, prophylaxis, and treatment are important components of ERPs.

RESEARCH AGENDA FOR PONV

Table 4 summarizes themes as basis for the future research agenda. Modern approaches to PONV started with generic ondansetron. For the first time, risk identification became actionable - clinicians had an effective, safe and cost-accessible antiemetic. We have come a long way since then, but the need for further improvement exists, for research in both knowledge and practice.

One future research area is the refinement of risk assessment. Wide inter-individual variability in PONV experience has long been observed. Genome-wide association studies have identified several candidate SNPs in Caucasian and East Asian populations. 54,385

Inflammation also may contribute to risk for PONV, and early research suggests that elevated preoperative peripheral blood neutrophil/lymphocyte ratios may be markers for individual risk.³⁴

Further investigations of the genetic and internal environment predispositions to PONV could personalize preventive strategies, particularly in ethnicities not yet studied. The developing field of pharmacogenomics in relation to antiemetic efficacy is of equal clinical interest.

There is yet a paucity of research on PONV risk and management in special patient populations, including children, pregnant patients, and patients having cesarean delivery.

There is rising incidence of obesity, bariatric surgery worldwide; and a recent dramatic increase in the use of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists. How these factors influence PONV risk assessment and treatment is not yet clearly understood.

The current armamentarium of antiemetic drugs provides a solid approach to reduce PONV for most patients. Further research could look to enhance efficacy and reduce side effects. The NK-1 receptor antagonist class is of particular interest, because of high efficacy and reasonable duration, as well as potential anxiolytic, antidepressant and antipruritic effects. 386,387

A combination drug of long acting netupitant with palonosetron is approved in the US for CINV. Research in combination or co-administration of drugs for PONV indications should be done, focusing on the synergistic effects of different antiemetic classes, while monitoring clinical and drug-interaction (CYP450) side effects.

Non-pharmacological interventions to prevent or treat PONV hold perennial appeal because of their perceived lack of toxicity and low cost. Research is needed to validate those assumptions and to further explore the efficacy of non-pharmacological interventions such as herbal medicine, acupuncture, acupressure, and transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, particularly in combination with pharmacologic approaches.³⁸⁸

Research on aromatherapy has shown low efficacy for PONV, but further research could focus on the effects of isopropyl alcohol sniffs, which have shown limited but positive effects (distinct from the essential oils aromatherapy e.g., peppermint). Isopropyl alcohol's possible immediate but short-term effects could be investigated in combination with slower onset pharmacologic interventions.

Future management of PONV would also benefit from the integration of novel technology. System-integrated digital health solutions could potentially predict, monitor, and manage PONV. Personal digital health solutions such as wearable devices could be utilized to provide real-time symptom tracking, direct patient engagement, and facilitate follow-up beyond the hospital stay. Artificial intelligence and machine learning are likely to be useful to assess risk and optimize patient outcomes. Also, advances in surgical technology may contribute to PONV risk reduction; our surgical colleagues should be encouraged to include PONV outcomes in their research.³⁸⁹

Future PONV research should expand to include more patient-reported outcome measures, thus better representing the impact of PONV on patient satisfaction, quality of life, and recovery. New devices and data systems may be needed to follow patients along the full trajectory of perioperative PONV care, until their return to "wellness". There is limited research to date on the economic burden of PONV to patients (and facilities). Better research to assess the efficacy of individual components of ERAS protocols is warranted.

Future PONV research will benefit from interaction with policy makers. The FDA has a guidance document on CINV: Developing Drugs for Prevention-Guidance for Industry.³⁹⁰ A parallel guidance for PONV management could include data and outcomes of interest, with input from clinician experts, as well as pharmacoeconomic measures. Such a document could set the standards of PONV related research, thus growing the evidence base in a meaningful direction.

How can we encourage practitioners to embrace and implement up-to-date knowledge? This is the field of healthcare system implementation research. The most effective ways to implement evidence-based guidelines for PONV prevention and management across different healthcare settings need to be further investigated.³⁹¹⁻³⁹³

The realities of resource variability must be part of implementation research. Some countries have severely limited choices in anesthetics, analgesics and antiemetics, so access to risk reductions and therapies via those pathways will necessarily be constrained. Even the well-resourced US and Europe struggle with critical drug shortages and struggle with balance in cost-effectiveness decision making.³⁹⁴⁻³⁹⁶

CONCLUSIONS

With the widespread implementation of general, multimodal PONV prophylaxis, it is now imperative to adopt evidence based antiemetic combination for prophylaxis, as well as appropriate rescue antiemetics. While there is now evidence that individual antiemetics differ in their efficacy, it is not yet clear how this translates to the efficacy of combination prophylaxis. There are robust PONV risk scores that are accurate for risk stratification at a population level, clinicians should be cognizant of additional factors which could modify individuals' PONV risks and management. There is now a growing body of literature on the management of PONV in children. As in adults, PONV management in children should follow algorithmic approach, using evidence-based interventions. The paradigm shift towards personalized medicine brings opportunities for further research in refining the approaches to PONV risk assessment and intervention algorithm. Lastly, research and institutional policy on PONV management should include considerations to the socioeconomic and equity aspects of healthcare delivery.

PROFESSIONAL SOCIETY ENDORSEMENTS

This set of guidelines have been officially endorsed by the following professional organizations:

- · American Society for Enhanced Recovery
- · American Academy of Anesthesiologist Assistants
- American Association of Nurse Anesthesiology
- American Academy of Ambulatory Care Nursing (AAACN)
- American College of Clinical Pharmacy
- American Society of Health Systems Pharmacists
- · American Society of Peri Anesthesia Nurses
- Australian and New Zealand College of Anesthetists
- · Australian Society of Anesthetists
- Canadian Anesthesiologists' Society
- · College of Anesthesiologists of Ireland
- European Society of Anesthesiology
- · German Society of Anesthesiology
- · Hong Kong College of Anesthesiologists
- Indian Society of Anesthesiology
- · Indonesian Society of Anesthesiologists and Intensive Therapy
- · Japanese Society of Anesthesiologists
- · Korean Society of Anesthesiologists
- · Malaysian Society of Anesthesiologists
- · Royal College of Anesthesiologist Thailand
- · Royal College of Anaesthetists United Kingdom
- · Singapore Society of Anesthesiologists
- · Society for Ambulatory Anesthesia
- · Society for Pediatric Anesthesia
- South African Society of Anesthesiologists

REFERENCES

- 2. Gan TJ, Belani KG, Bergese S, et al. Fourth consensus guidelines for the management of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2020;131(2):411-448. doi:10.1213/ane.0000000000004833
- **3.** Higgins J, Lasserson T, Chandler J, Tovey D, Churchill R. Methodological Expectations of Cochrane Intervention Reviews. Cochrane London; 2019. https://community.cochrane.org/mecir-manual
- 4. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS medicine. Jul 21 2009;6(7):e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- 5. Rethlefsen M, Ayala AP, Kirtley S, Koffel J, Waffenschmidt S. PRISMA-S PRISMA Search Reporting Extension. OSF; 2019.
- 6. American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Acute Pain M. Practice guidelines for acute pain management in the perioperative setting: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Acute Pain Management. Anesthesiology. Feb 2012;116(2):248-73. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e31823c1030
- Pierre S, Corno G, Benais H, Apfel CC. A risk score-dependent antiemetic approach effectively reduces postoperative nausea and vomiting--a continuous quality improvement initiative. Can J Anaesth. Apr 2004;51(4):320-5. doi:10.1007/ bf03018235
- 8. Apfel CC, Heidrich FM, Jukar-Rao S, et al. Evidence-based analysis of risk factors for postoperative nausea and vomiting. Br J Anaesth. Nov 2012;109(5):742-53. doi:10.1093/bja/aes276
- Kranke P, Eberhart LH, Gan TJ, Roewer N, Tramèr MR. Algorithms for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: an efficacy and efficiency simulation. Eur J Anaesthesiol. Oct 2007;24(10):856-67. doi:10.1017/ s0265021507000713
- 10. Skledar SJ, Williams BA, Vallejo MC, et al. Eliminating postoperative nausea and vomiting in outpatient surgery with multimodal strategies including low doses of nonsedating, off-patent antiemetics: is "zero tolerance" achievable? ScientificWorldJournal. Jun 12 2007;7:959-77. doi:10.1100/tsw.2007.131
- Frenzel JC, Kee SS, Ensor JE, Riedel BJ, Ruiz JR. Ongoing provision of individual clinician performance data improves practice behavior. Anesth Analg. Aug 2010;111(2):515-9. doi:10.1213/ANE.0b013e3181dd5899
- 12. Portnoy Y, Glebov M, Orkin D, Katsin M, Berkenstadt H. Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Pediatrics: Incidence and Guideline Adherence-a Retrospective Cohort Study. Anesth Analg. Nov 19 2024;doi:10.1213/ane.0000000000007291
- 13. Andreae MH, Gabry JS, Goodrich B, White RS, Hall C. Antiemetic Prophylaxis as a Marker of Health Care Disparities in the National Anesthesia Clinical Outcomes Registry. Anesth Analg. Feb 2018;126(2):588-599. doi:10.1213/ane.000000000002582
- 14. Oodit R, Biccard BM, Panieri E, et al. Guidelines for Perioperative Care in Elective Abdominal and Pelvic Surgery at Primary and Secondary Hospitals in Low-Middle-Income Countries (LMIC's): Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Society Recommendation. World J Surg. Aug 2022;46(8):1826-1843. doi:10.1007/s00268-022-06587-w
- 15. Corcoran TB, Martin C, O'Loughlin E, et al. Dexamethasone and persistent wound pain: a prespecified analysis of the randomised Perioperative Administration of Dexamethasone and Infection (PADDI) trial. Br J Anaesth. Jul 2023;131(1):93-103. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2023.03.031
- Weibel S, Rücker G, Eberhart LH, et al. Drugs for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting in adults after general anaesthesia: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Oct 19 2020;10(10):Cd012859. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012859.pub2
- 17. Dimmen A, Timko S, Greenwood J, McShane F, Ulinski J. Effect of dexamethasone administration for postoperative nausea and vomiting prophylaxis on glucose levels in adults with diabetes undergoing elective surgery: a systematic review with meta-analysis. JBI Evid Synth. Nov 1 2023;21(11):2156-2187. doi:10.11124/jbies-22-00300
- McKechnie T, Elder G, Ichhpuniani S, et al. Perioperative intravenous dexamethasone for patients undergoing colorectal surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Colorectal Dis. Feb 10 2023;38(1):32. doi:10.1007/ s00384-023-04327-7

- 19. Kooij FO, Klok T, Preckel B, Hollmann MW, Kal JE. The effect of requesting a reason for non-adherence to a guideline in a long running automated reminder system for PONV prophylaxis. Appl Clin Inform. Mar 29 2017;8(1):313-321. doi:10.4338/aci-2016-08-ra-0138
- Kooij FO, Klok T, Hollmann MW, Kal JE. Decision support increases guideline adherence for prescribing postoperative nausea and vomiting prophylaxis. Anesth Analg. Mar 2008;106(3):893-8, table of contents. doi:10.1213/ ane.0b013e31816194fb
- 21. Kooij FO, Vos N, Siebenga P, Klok T, Hollmann MW, Kal JE. Automated reminders decrease postoperative nausea and vomiting incidence in a general surgical population. Br J Anaesth. Jun 2012;108(6):961-5. doi:10.1093/bja/aes024
- **22.** Pierre S, Benais H, Pouymayou J. Apfel's simplified score may favourably predict the risk of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Can J Anaesth. Mar 2002;49(3):237-42. doi:10.1007/bf03020521
- 23. Apfel CC, Korttila K, Abdalla M, et al. A factorial trial of six interventions for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. N Engl J Med. Jun 10 2004;350(24):2441-51. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa032196
- 24. Apfel CC, Läärä E, Koivuranta M, Greim CA, Roewer N. A simplified risk score for predicting postoperative nausea and vomiting: conclusions from cross-validations between two centers. Anesthesiology. Sep 1999;91(3):693-700. doi:10.1097/00000542-199909000-00022
- 25. Koivuranta M, Läärä E. A survey of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anaesthesia. Apr 1998;53(4):413-4.
- 26. Backmund T, Bohlender T, Gaik C, et al. [Comparison of different prediction models for the occurrence of nausea and vomiting in the postoperative phase: A systematic qualitative comparison based on prospectively defined quality indicators]. Anaesthesiologie. Apr 2024;73(4):251-262. Vergleich verschiedener Vorhersagemodelle für das Auftreten von Übelkeit und Erbrechen in der postoperativen Phase: Ein systematischer qualitativer Vergleich anhand prospektiv definierter Qualitätsindikatoren. doi:10.1007/s00101-024-01386-5
- 27. Van den Bosch JE, Moons KG, Bonsel GJ, Kalkman CJ. Does measurement of preoperative anxiety have added value for predicting postoperative nausea and vomiting? Anesth Analg. May 2005;100(5):1525-1532. doi:10.1213/01. Ane.0000149325.20542.D4
- 28. Sinclair DR, Chung F, Mezei G. Can postoperative nausea and vomiting be predicted? Anesthesiology. Jul 1999;91(1):109-18. doi:10.1097/00000542-199907000-00018
- 29. Kim JH, Kim H, Yoo K, et al. Effect of the preoperative physical status on postoperative nausea and vomiting risk: a matched cohort study. Perioper Med (Lond). Sep 6 2022;11(1):31. doi:10.1186/s13741-022-00264-1
- **30.** Yasli S, Canpolat, DG, Dogruel, F, Asan, CY, Soylu, E, Demirbas, AE. Do Preoperative Hemoglobin and Hematocrit Levels Predict Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Orthognathic Surgery Patients? A Retrospective Case-Control Study. Annals of Clinical & Analytical Medicine. 2023;14(9):803-807. doi:10.4328/acam.21786
- 31. Zengin M, Sazak H, Baldemir R, et al. Parameters Affecting Nausea and Vomiting After Thoracoscopic Wedge Resection in Patients With Pneumothorax. Cureus. Nov 2021;13(11):e19926. doi:10.7759/cureus.19926
- 32. Yildiz Altun A, Demirel İ, Bolat E, et al. The Relationship Between the Preoperative Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio and Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Septorhinoplasty Surgery. Aesthetic Plast Surg. Jun 2019;43(3):861-865. doi:10.1007/s00266-019-01325-5
- 33. Karaca O, Dogan G. Can Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte or Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratio Be Used to Predict Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Breast Reduction? Cureus. Mar 10 2020;12(3):e7237. doi:10.7759/cureus.7237
- 34. Feng D, Wang D, Gu C, Lv M, Liu Z, Wang Y. Effectiveness of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratios in predicting the incidence of nausea and vomiting after total knee arthroplasty in patients with hemophilia A. Front Surg. 2023;10:1120930. doi:10.3389/fsurg.2023.1120930
- 35. Maleczek M, Laxar D, Geroldinger A, Kimberger O. Intraoperative Hypotension Is Associated with Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in the PACU: A Retrospective Database Analysis. J Clin Med. Mar 3 2023;12(5)doi:10.3390/jcm12052009
- 36. Qu MD, Zhang MY, Wang GM, Wang Z, Wang X. Intraoperative systemic vascular resistance is associated with postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic hysterectomy. World J Clin Cases. Oct 26 2020;8(20):4816-4825. doi:10.12998/wjcc.v8.i20.4816

- 37. Nakatani H, Naito Y, Ida M, et al. Association between intraoperative hypotension and postoperative nausea and vomiting: a retrospective analysis of 247 thyroidectomy cases. Braz J Anesthesiol. Sep-Oct 2023;73(5):635-640. doi:10.1016/j.bjane.2021.02.029
- 38. Holst JM, Klitholm MP, Henriksen J, et al. Intraoperative respiratory and hemodynamic strategies for reducing nausea, vomiting, and pain after surgery: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Oct 2022;66(9):1051-1060. doi:10.1111/aas.14127
- **39.** Kim JH, Hong M, Kim YJ, Lee HS, Kwon YS, Lee JJ. Effect of Body Mass Index on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: Propensity Analysis. J Clin Med. May 26 2020;9(6)doi:10.3390/jcm9061612
- **40.** Kranke P, Apefel CC, Papenfuss T, et al. An increased body mass index is no risk factor for postoperative nausea and vomiting. A systematic review and results of original data. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Feb 2001;45(2):160-6.
- **41.** Groene P, Eisenlohr J, Zeuzem C, Dudok S, Karcz K, Hofmann-Kiefer K. Postoperative nausea and vomiting in bariatric surgery in comparison to non-bariatric gastric surgery. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. Jan 2019;14(1):90-95. doi:10.5114/wiitm.2018.77629
- **42.** Schumann R, Ziemann-Gimmel P, Sultana A, et al. Postoperative nausea and vomiting in bariatric surgery: a position statement endorsed by the ASMBS and the ISPCOP. Surg Obes Relat Dis. Nov 2021;17(11):1829-1833. doi:10.1016/j.soard.2021.08.005
- 43. Song Y, Zhu J, Dong Z, Wang C, Xiao J, Yang W. Incidence and risk factors of postoperative nausea and vomiting following laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and its relationship with Helicobacter pylori: A propensity score matching analysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2023;14:1102017. doi:10.3389/fendo.2023.1102017
- 44. Shiraishi-Zapat CA-A, SJ. Rodríguez-Velarde, GJ. Cumulative incidence and risks factors for postoperative nausea and vomiting in adult patients undergoing cholecystectomy under balanced general anesthesia: a prospective cohort study. Columbian journal of anesthesiology. 2020;48(1):3-11. doi: 10.1097/CJ9.00000000000142
- 45. Ursavas FE, Baksi A, Sarica E. Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting After Orthopaedic Surgery: Prevalence and Associated Factors. Orthop Nurs. May-Jun 01 2023;42(3):179-187. doi:10.1097/NOR.0000000000000945
- **46.** Grass N, Bundy E. Postdischarge Nausea and Vomiting Risk Assessment in Breast and Gynecologic Surgical Patients. J Perianesth Nurs. Aug 2021;36(4):339-344. doi:10.1016/j.jopan.2020.09.008
- **47.** Sato K, Sai S, Adachi T. Is microvascular decompression surgery a high risk for postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing craniotomy? J Anesth. Oct 2013;27(5):725-30. doi:10.1007/s00540-013-1621-9
- **48.** Flynn BC, Nemergut EC. Postoperative nausea and vomiting and pain after transsphenoidal surgery: a review of 877 patients. Anesth Analg. Jul 2006;103(1):162-7, table of contents. doi:10.1213/01.ane.0000221185.08155.80
- **49.** Apfel CC, Kranke P, Greim CA, Roewer N. What can be expected from risk scores for predicting postoperative nausea and vomiting? Br J Anaesth. Jun 2001;86(6):822-7. doi:10.1093/bja/86.6.822
- **50.** Apfel CC, Philip BK, Cakmakkaya OS, et al. Who is at risk for postdischarge nausea and vomiting after ambulatory surgery? Anesthesiology. Sep 2012;117(3):475-86. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e318267ef31
- 51. Odom-Forren J, Jalota L, Moser DK, et al. Incidence and predictors of postdischarge nausea and vomiting in a 7-day population. J Clin Anesth. Nov 2013;25(7):551-9. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2013.05.008
- 52. López-Morales P, Flores-Funes D, Sánchez-Migallón EG, Lirón-Ruiz RJ, Aguayo-Albasini JL. Genetic Factors Associated with Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: a Systematic Review. J Gastrointest Surg. Sep 2018;22(9):1645-1651. doi:10.1007/s11605-018-3788-8
- 53. Stamer UM, Schmutz M, Wen T, et al. A serotonin transporter polymorphism is associated with postoperative nausea and vomiting: An observational study in two different patient cohorts. Eur J Anaesthesiol. Aug 2019;36(8):566-574. doi:10.1097/eja.000000000001014
- 54. Klenke S, Frey UH. Genetic variability in postoperative nausea and vomiting: A systematic review. Eur J Anaesthesiol. Nov 2020;37(11):959-968. doi:10.1097/eja.00000000001224
- 55. Candiotti K, Shrestha C, Silva Ceschim MR. Is there a place for genetics in the management of PONV? Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. Dec 2020;34(4):713-720. doi:10.1016/j.bpa.2020.05.002
- 56. Ahlström SE, Bergman PH, Jokela RM, Olkkola KT, Kaunisto MA, Kalso EA. Clinical and genetic factors associated with post-operative nausea and vomiting after propofol anaesthesia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Sep 2023;67(8):1018-1027. doi:10.1111/aas.14261

- 57. Nair A, Tiwary MK. Pharmacogenomics of postoperative nausea and vomiting: Multifactorial all the way. Saudi J Anaesth. Oct-Dec 2021;15(4):455-456. doi:10.4103/sja.sja_252_21
- 58. Douville NJ, Bastarache L, He J, et al. Polygenic Score for the Prediction of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: A Retrospective Derivation and Validation Cohort Study. Anesthesiology. Jan 1 2025;142(1):52-71. doi:10.1097/aln.000000000005214
- 59. Begic D, Janda-Martinac C, Vrdoljak M, Puljak L. Reporting and analyses of sex/gender and race/ethnicity in randomized controlled trials of interventions published in the highest-ranking anesthesiology journals. J Comp Eff Res. Dec 2019;8(16):1417-1423. doi:10.2217/cer-2019-0071
- **60.** Lee DC, Vetter TR, Dobyns JB, et al. Sociodemographic Disparities in Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting. Anesth Analg. Sep 1 2023;137(3):665-675. doi:10.1213/ane.00000000000000009
- 61. White RS, Andreae MH, Lui B, et al. Antiemetic Administration and Its Association with Race: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Anesthesiology. Jun 1 2023;138(6):587-601. doi:10.1097/aln.0000000000004549
- **62.** Jotwani R, Turnbull ZA, White RS. The economic cost of racial disparities in perioperative care. J Comp Eff Res. Apr 2020;9(5):317-320. doi:10.2217/cer-2019-0192
- 63. Buchanan R, Roy N, Parra MF, Staffa SJ, Brown ML, Nasr VG. Race and Outcomes in Patients with Congenital Cardiac Disease in an Enhanced Recovery Program. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. Sep 2022;36(9):3603-3609. doi:10.1053/j.jvca.2022.04.008
- **64.** Filipescu D, Ştefan M. Sex and gender differences in anesthesia: Relevant also for perioperative safety? Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. May 2021;35(1):141-153. doi:10.1016/j.bpa.2020.12.006
- 65. Mukerji S, Uppalapati A, Lee R, et al. High Incidence of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Transgender Women Undergoing Facial Feminization Procedures. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. Nov 2023;11(11):e5360. doi:10.1097/gox.000000000005360
- 66. Aquino NJ, Boskey ER, Staffa SJ, et al. A Single Center Case Series of Gender-Affirming Surgeries and the Evolution of a Specialty Anesthesia Team. J Clin Med. Mar 31 2022;11(7)doi:10.3390/jcm11071943
- 67. Deljou A, Kanaparthi A, Soleimani J, et al. Gravid status is not associated with postoperative nausea and vomiting: a matched case-control study. J Anesth. Oct 2023;37(5):681-686. doi:10.1007/s00540-023-03220-5
- 68. Schraag S, Pradelli L, Alsaleh AJO, et al. Propofol vs. inhalational agents to maintain general anaesthesia in ambulatory and in-patient surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Anesthesiol. Nov 8 2018;18(1):162. doi:10.1186/s12871-018-0632-3
- 70. Elbakry AE, Sultan WE, Ibrahim E. A comparison between inhalational (Desflurane) and total intravenous anaesthesia (Propofol and dexmedetomidine) in improving postoperative recovery for morbidly obese patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: A double-blinded randomised controlled trial. J Clin Anesth. Mar 2018;45:6-11. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2017.12.001
- 71. Lee WK, Kim MS, Kang SW, Kim S, Lee JR. Type of anaesthesia and patient quality of recovery: a randomized trial comparing propofol-remifentanil total i.v. anaesthesia with desflurane anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. Apr 2015;114(4):663-8. doi:10.1093/bja/aeu405
- 72. Sprung J, Deljou A, Schroeder DR, Warner DO, Weingarten TN. Effect of Propofol Infusion on Need for Rescue Antiemetics in Postanesthesia Care Unit After Volatile Anesthesia: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Anesth Analg. Jul 1 2024;139(1):26-34. doi:10.1213/ane.0000000000000006906
- 73. Kampman JM, Plasmans KYQ, Hermanides J, Hollmann MW, Repping S, Sperna Weiland NH. Influence of nitrous oxide added to general anaesthesia on postoperative mortality and morbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Anaesth. Mar 11 2024;doi:10.1016/j.bja.2024.02.011
- 74. Mraovic B, Simurina T, Gan TJ. Nitrous oxide added at the end of isoflurane anesthesia hastens early recovery without increasing the risk for postoperative nausea and vomiting: a randomized clinical trial. Can J Anaesth. Feb 2018;65(2):162-169. L'ajout de protoxyde d'azote à la fin d'une anesthésie à l'isoflurane accélère la récupération précoce sans augmenter le risque de nausées et vomissements postopératoires : une étude clinique randomisée. doi:10.1007/s12630-017-1013-y

- 75. Apfel CC, Turan A, Souza K, Pergolizzi J, Hornuss C. Intravenous acetaminophen reduces postoperative nausea and vomiting: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pain. May 2013;154(5):677-689. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2012.12.025
- 76. Marret E, Kurdi O, Zufferey P, Bonnet F. Effects of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs on patient-controlled analgesia morphine side effects: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesthesiology. Jun 2005;102(6):1249-60. doi:10.1097/00000542-200506000-00027
- 77. Elia N, Lysakowski C, Tramèr MR. Does multimodal analgesia with acetaminophen, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, or selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors and patient-controlled analgesia morphine offer advantages over morphine alone? Meta-analyses of randomized trials. Anesthesiology. Dec 2005;103(6):1296-304. doi:10.1097/00000542-200512000-00025
- 78. Gan TJ, Joshi GP, Zhao SZ, Hanna DB, Cheung RY, Chen C. Presurgical intravenous parecoxib sodium and follow-up oral valdecoxib for pain management after laparoscopic cholecystectomy surgery reduces opioid requirements and opioid-related adverse effects. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Oct 2004;48(9):1194-207. doi:10.1111/j.1399-6576.2004.00495.x
- **79.** Elia N, Tramèr MR. Ketamine and postoperative pain--a quantitative systematic review of randomised trials. Pain. Jan 2005;113(1-2):61-70. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2004.09.036
- **80.** Maund E, McDaid C, Rice S, Wright K, Jenkins B, Woolacott N. Paracetamol and selective and non-selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the reduction in morphine-related side-effects after major surgery: a systematic review. Br J Anaesth. Mar 2011;106(3):292-7. doi:10.1093/bja/aeq406
- 81. Modasi A, Pace D, Godwin M, Smith C, Curtis B. NSAID administration post colorectal surgery increases anastomotic leak rate: systematic review/meta-analysis. Surg Endosc. Mar 2019;33(3):879-885. doi:10.1007/s00464-018-6355-1
- 82. Smith SA, Roberts DJ, Lipson ME, Buie WD, MacLean AR. Postoperative Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drug Use and Intestinal Anastomotic Dehiscence: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Dis Colon Rectum. Nov 2016;59(11):1087-1097. doi:10.1097/dcr.0000000000000666
- 83. Hakkarainen TW, Steele SR, Bastaworous A, et al. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the risk for anastomotic failure: a report from Washington State's Surgical Care and Outcomes Assessment Program (SCOAP). JAMA Surg. Mar 1 2015;150(3):223-8. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2014.2239
- 84. Pöpping DM, Elia N, Van Aken HK, et al. Impact of epidural analgesia on mortality and morbidity after surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Ann Surg. Jun 2014;259(6):1056-67. doi:10.1097/sla.000000000000237
- 85. Radovanović D, Radovanović Z, Škorić-Jokić S, Tatić M, Mandić A, Ivković-Kapicl T. Thoracic Epidural Versus Intravenous Patient-Controlled Analgesia after Open Colorectal Cancer Surgery. Acta Clin Croat. Jun 2017;56(2):244-254. doi:10.20471/acc.2017.56.02.07
- 86. Ukai T, Ebihara G, Watanabe M. Opioid administration via epidural catheter is a risk factor for postoperative nausea and vomiting in total hip arthroplasty: A retrospective study. J Orthop Sci. Nov 2018;23(6):973-976. doi:10.1016/j. jos.2018.06.011
- 87. Guay J, Nishimori M, Kopp SL. Epidural Local Anesthetics Versus Opioid-Based Analgesic Regimens for Postoperative Gastrointestinal Paralysis, Vomiting, and Pain After Abdominal Surgery: A Cochrane Review. Anesth Analg. Dec 2016;123(6):1591-1602. doi:10.1213/ane.0000000000001628
- 88. Zeng J, Hong A, Gu Z, Jian J, Liang X. Efficacy of transversus abdominis plane block on postoperative nausea and vomiting: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trial. BMC Anesthesiol. Mar 1 2024;24(1):87. doi:10.1186/s12871-024-02469-x
- **89.** Alvi AS, Nasir JA, Nizam MA, et al. Quadratus lumborum block and transversus abdominis plane block in laparoscopic nephrectomy: a meta-analysis. Pain Manag. Sep 2023;13(9):555-567. doi:10.2217/pmt-2023-0033
- **90.** Zheng X, Feng X, Cai XJ. Effectiveness and safety of continuous wound infiltration for postoperative pain management after open gastrectomy. World J Gastroenterol. Feb 7 2016;22(5):1902-10. doi:10.3748/wjg.v22.i5.1902
- 91. McIsaac DI, Cole ET, McCartney CJ. Impact of including regional anaesthesia in enhanced recovery protocols: a scoping review. Br J Anaesth. Dec 2015;115 Suppl 2:ii46-56. doi:10.1093/bja/aev376
- **92.** Weibel S, Jokinen J, Pace NL, et al. Efficacy and safety of intravenous lidocaine for postoperative analgesia and recovery after surgery: a systematic review with trial sequential analysis. Br J Anaesth. Jun 2016;116(6):770-83. doi:10.1093/bja/aew101

- 93. Verret M, Lauzier F, Zarychanski R, et al. Perioperative Use of Gabapentinoids for the Management of Postoperative Acute Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Anesthesiology. Aug 2020;133(2):265-279. doi:10.1097/aln.000000000003428
- **94.** Kumar AH, Habib AS. The role of gabapentinoids in acute and chronic pain after surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. Oct 2019;32(5):629-634. doi:10.1097/aco.00000000000000767
- **95.** Collard V, Mistraletti G, Taqi A, et al. Intraoperative esmolol infusion in the absence of opioids spares postoperative fentanyl in patients undergoing ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Anesth Analg. Nov 2007;105(5):1255-62, table of contents. doi:10.1213/01.ane.0000282822.07437.02
- **96.** Ji JY, Kim NS, Seo YH, et al. Comparing the effects of continuous infusion of esmolol and ramosetron alone and in combination on nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A prospective, randomized, double-blind study. Medicine (United States). 2022;101(35):E30105. doi:10.1097/md.00000000030105
- 97. Frauenknecht J, Kirkham KR, Jacot-Guillarmod A, Albrecht E. Analgesic impact of intra-operative opioids vs. opioid-free anaesthesia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Anaesthesia. May 2019;74(5):651-662. doi:10.1111/anae.14582
- 98. Mathew DM, Fusco PJ, Varghese KS, et al. Opioid-free anesthesia versus opioid-based anesthesia in patients undergoing cardiovascular and thoracic surgery: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. Sep 2023;27(3):162-170. doi:10.1177/10892532231180227
- 99. Salome A, Harkouk H, Fletcher D, Martinez V. Opioid-Free Anesthesia Benefit-Risk Balance: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Clin Med. May 12 2021;10(10)doi:10.3390/jcm10102069
- 100. Zhang Y, Ma D, Lang B, et al. Effect of opioid-free anesthesia on the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. Medicine (Baltimore). Sep 22 2023;102(38):e35126. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000035126
- 101. Chen L, He W, Liu X, Lv F, Li Y. Application of opioid-free general anesthesia for gynecological laparoscopic surgery under ERAS protocol: a non-inferiority randomized controlled trial. BMC Anesthesiol. Jan 27 2023;23(1):34. doi:10.1186/s12871-023-01994-5
- **102.** Feenstra ML, Jansen S, Eshuis WJ, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Hollmann MW, Hermanides J. Opioid-free anesthesia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Anesth. Nov 2023;90:111215. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2023.111215
- **103.** Dinges HC, Otto S, Stay DK, et al. Side Effect Rates of Opioids in Equianalgesic Doses via Intravenous Patient-Controlled Analgesia: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. Anesth Analg. Oct 2019;129(4):1153-1162. doi:10.1213/ANE.0000000000003887
- **104.** Markwei MT, Babatunde IO, Kutlu-Yalcin E, et al. Perioperative Supplemental Oxygen and Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: Subanalysis of a Trial, Systematic Review, and Meta-analysis. Anesthesiology. Jan 1 2023;138(1):56-70. doi:10.1097/ALN.0000000000004428
- 105. Orhan-Sungur M, Kranke P, Sessler D, Apfel CC. Does supplemental oxygen reduce postoperative nausea and vomiting? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesth Analg. Jun 2008;106(6):1733-8. doi:10.1213/ane.0b013e3181731c5a
- 106. Li G, Tian DD, Wang X, et al. Muscular Tissue Oxygen Saturation and Posthysterectomy Nausea and Vomiting: The iMODIPONV Randomized Controlled Trial. Anesthesiology. Aug 2020;133(2):318-331. doi:10.1097/aln.0000000000003305
- 107. Ding X, Zhu X, Zhao C, et al. Use of sugammadex is associated with reduced incidence and severity of postoperative nausea and vomiting in adult patients with obesity undergoing laparoscopic bariatric surgery: a post-hoc analysis. BMC Anesthesiol. May 15 2023;23(1):163. doi:10.1186/s12871-023-02123-y
- **108.** Hsieh YL, Lin CR, Liu YC, Wang CJ, Weng WT. The effect of sugammadex versus neostigmine on postoperative nausea and vomiting: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials with trial sequential analysis. Minerva Anestesiol. May 2023;89(5):434-444. doi:10.23736/s0375-9393.22.16972-5
- 109. Hristovska AM, Duch P, Allingstrup M, Afshari A. Efficacy and safety of sugammadex versus neostigmine in reversing neuromuscular blockade in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Aug 14 2017;8(8):CD012763. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD012763
- 110. Ricci C, Ingaldi C, Alberici L, et al. Preoperative carbohydrate loading before elective abdominal surgery: A systematic review and network meta-analysis of phase II/III randomized controlled trials. Clin Nutr. Feb 2022;41(2):313-320. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2021.12.016

- 111. Kadado A, Shaw JH, Ayoola AS, Akioyamen NO, North WT, Charters MA. Effects of Preoperative Carbohydrate-rich Drinks on Immediate Postoperative Outcomes in Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. Jun 1 2022;30(11):e833-e841. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-21-00960
- **112.** Jewer JK, Wong MJ, Bird SJ, Habib AS, Parker R, George RB. Supplemental perioperative intravenous crystalloids for postoperative nausea and vomiting. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2019;3(3):CD012212. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012212.pub2
- 113. Lee MJ, Lee C, Kang H, Kim H. The impact of crystalloid versus colloid fluids on postoperative nausea and vomiting: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Clin Anesth. Jun 2020;62:109695. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2019.109695
- 114. Yokoyama C, Mihara T, Kashiwagi S, Koga M, Goto T. Effects of intravenous dextrose on preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting: A systematic review and meta-analysis with trial sequential analysis. PLoS One. 2020;15(4):e0231958. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0231958
- **115.** Deng R, Huang G, Liu W, Liu X. Effects of perioperative dextrose infusion on preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Int Med Res. Dec 2021;49(12):3000605211063264. doi:10.1177/03000605211063264
- 116. Zheng X, Wei K, Liu L, Ma J, Liu D, Zhang J. The Impact of Goal-Directed Fluid Therapy on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in High-Risk Patients Undergoing Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy. Obes Surg. Nov 2022;32(11):3533-3540. doi:10.1007/s11695-022-06260-0
- 117. Kwon YS, Choi JW, Lee HS, Kim JH, Kim Y, Lee JJ. Effect of a Preoperative Proton Pump Inhibitor and Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting. J Clin Med. Mar 18 2020;9(3)doi:10.3390/jcm9030825
- 118. Weibel S, Schaefer MS, Raj D, et al. Drugs for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting in adults after general anaesthesia: An abridged cochrane network meta-analysis. Anaesthesia. 2021;76(7):962-973. doi:10.1111/anae.15295
- 119. Qasemi F, Aini T, Ali W, et al. The Effectiveness of Ondansetron and Dexamethasone in Preventing Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting After Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. Cureus. Apr 2023;15(4):e37419. doi:10.7759/cureus.37419
- **120.** Nambiar B, Kumar D. Comparison of Ondansetron, Metoclopramide, and Dexamethasone for Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting Prophylaxis in Laparoscopic Surgeries. The Journal of International Medical Sciences Academy. 2018;31(2):73-78.
- 121. Kazmi I, Waseem A, Asif K. Compare the effectiveness of ondansetron Vs prochlorperazine for preventing nausea & vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Pakistan Journal of Medical and Health Sciences. 2021;15(3):555-557.
- **122.** Chen X, Qin Y, Li S, Lei H, Wu X, Shu L. Efficacy of 5-HT3 receptor antagonists (ondansetron) vs dopamine receptor antagonists (droperidol) for preventing postoperative nausea, vomiting and headache: a meta-analysis. Pteridines. 2019;30(1):146-152. doi:doi:10.1515/pteridines-2019-0018
- **123.** Nuttall GA, Voogd SC, Danke H, et al. The incidence of torsades de pointes with peri-operative low-dose ondansetron administration. Pharmacotherapy. Apr 2022;42(4):292-297. doi:10.1002/phar.2668
- **124.** Aapro MS. Palonosetron as an anti-emetic and anti-nausea agent in oncology. Ther Clin Risk Manag. Dec 2007;3(6):1009-20.
- **125.** Balyan R, Kumar S, Lalitha K, Aneja S, George JS. A Comparative Study of Palonosetron with Ondansetron for Prophylaxis of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting (PONV) Following Laparoscopic Gynaecological Surgeries. Rom J Anaesth Intensive Care. Jul 2022;29(1):32-40. doi:10.2478/rjaic-2022-0005
- **126.** Sharma S, Khanna S, Das J, Mehta Y, Handa KK. A randomized study to compare palonosetron with ondansetron for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting following middle ear surgeries. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. Apr-Jun 2019;35(2):182-187. doi:10.4103/joacp.JOACP_196_17
- **127.** Burcu B, Hacım NA, Caliskan O, et al. Impact of body weight-based dosing of palonosetron and ondansetron on postoperative nausea and vomiting following laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: a randomized, double-blind study. Acta Chir Belg. Feb 2024;124(1):41-49. doi:10.1080/00015458.2023.2184939
- **128.** Gupta D, Chandak V. Comparative study of ondansetron and palonosetron for prevention of nausea and vomiting following upper abdominal surgeries under general anaesthesia: A randomised control trial. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research. 2020;14:1-4.

- **129.** Bhargava T, Sahu S, Singh TK, et al. Comparison of palonosetron and ondansetron in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting in renal transplantation recipients: a randomized clinical trial. Braz J Anesthesiol. Jan-Feb 2024;74(1):744251. doi:10.1016/j.bjane.2021.07.027
- **130.** Vishwasrao S, Vishwasrao S, Kumar A. Efficacy and Safety of Intravenous Palonosetron against Ondansetron in Preventing Postoperative Nausea Vomiting in Patients Undergoing General Anaesthesia: Double blind Randomized Control Study in Tertiary Care Hospital, Tamil Nadu, India. Biomed Pharmacol J 2022;15(1):327-336.
- **131.** Yadav M HC, Choudhury A. A randomized, double-blind trial of palonosetron compared with ondansetron in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynaecological laparoscopic surgery. International Journal of Pharmaceutical & Clinical Research. 2022;14(9):977-985.
- 132. Yoo JH, Jeon IS, Chung JW, Ryoo JH, You GW, Kim SI. Comparison of palonosetron and ondansetron to prevent postoperative nausea and vomiting in women using intravenous patient-controlled analgesia. Anesth Pain Med (Seoul). Jan 31 2020;15(1):28-34. doi:10.17085/apm.2020.15.1.28
- **133.** Davolos FJC, Modolo NS, Braz LG, Nascimento Junior PD. Palonosetron versus ondansetron for prophylaxis of postoperative nausea and vomiting in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a non-inferiority randomized controlled trial. Braz J Anesthesiol. Jan-Feb 2024;74(1):744216. doi:10.1016/j.bjane.2021.06.020
- 134. Sumitha C, Philip G, Mamatha H, Rachana N, Rashmi N, Arathi B. A Controlled, Randomized, Double Blind, Fixed Dose Comparative Study to Evaluate the Efficacy of Granisetron, Ondansetron and Metoclopramide in Prevention of Post-Operative Nausea and Vomiting in Gynecological Oncosurgeries. European Journal of Molecular and Clinical Medicine. 2021;8(4)
- 135. Bandarupalli S, Parripati L, Ramella M, Sandhya L. A comparison between intravenous ondansetron and granisetron in the preventive management of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing cesarean section under spinal anesthesia. Bali Journal of Anesthesiology. 2021;5(3)doi:10.4103/bjoa.bjoa_233_20
- **136.** Barnwal AK GA, Gupta S, Karki Study to compare efficacy of granisetron with ramosetron as prophylactic antiemetic in general anaesthesia. International Journal of Academic Medicine & Pharmacy. 2023;5(3):494-498.
- 137. Ramakrishna B, Pramila T, Prathibha T, Bv S. A Comparative Study of Ondansetron with Ramosetron in Prevention of Post-Operative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing General Anesthesia. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research. 2023:182-185. doi:10.22159/ajpcr.2023.v16i10.48595
- **138.** Acharya SA, Patil KN. Comparison of equipotent doses of Ramosetron, Ondansetron, and sub-hypnotic dose of Propofol for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in laparoscopic cholecystectomy. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. Oct-Dec 2021;37(4):517-522. doi:10.4103/joacp.JOACP_65_20
- **139.** Li Y, Deng R, Zhou J, Chen Y, Ouyang A. Comparison of ramosetron and ondansetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Int Med Res. Oct 2019;47(10):4591-4603. doi:10.1177/0300060519871171
- **140.** Lee SU, Lee HJ, Kim YS. The effectiveness of ramosetron and ondansetron for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting after arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a randomized controlled trial. J Orthop Surg Res. Nov 11 2020;15(1):523. doi:10.1186/s13018-020-02060-3
- 141. Das S, Kumar A, Gupta A, Kumar A. A Randomised Controlled Trial to Compare the Effect of Ramosetron and Ondansetron in Prevention of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Undergoing Laparoscopic Gynaecological Procedures. Cureus. Sep 2022;14(9):e29200. doi:10.7759/cureus.29200
- 142. Opneja S DSS, Sureshan R, Ghoshal P. Comparison of intravenous ramosetron and ondansetron as prophylaxis for postoperative nausea and vomiting following general anesthesia. J Pharmacol Pharmacotherapy 2021;12:10. doi:10.4103/jpp.JPP 163 20
- 143. Kanase NV GS, Dimble KS. Comparison of the Efficacy of Ramosetron and Palonosetron in Preventing PONV in Patients undergoing Laparoscopic Surgery. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Quality Assurance. 2022;13(1):139-41. doi:10.25258/ijpga.13.1.9
- 144. Reddy GS, Manjusruthi B, Jyothsna G. Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting Prophylaxis: A Comparative Study of Ramosetron and Palonosetron in Patients Undergoing Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy A Prospective Randomized Trial. Anesth Essays Res. Jan-Mar 2019;13(1):68-72. doi:10.4103/aer.AER_192_18
- 145. Kim HJ, Ahn E, Choi GJ, Kang H. Comparison of the Effectiveness of Palonosetron and Ramosetron in Preventing Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis with Trial Sequential Analysis. J Pers Med. Dec 29 2022;13(1)doi:10.3390/jpm13010082

- **146.** Lin Y, Tiansheng S, Zhicheng Z, Xiaobin C, Fang L. Effects of Ramosetron on Nausea and Vomiting Following Spinal Surgery: A Meta-Analysis. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp. 2022;96:100666. doi:10.1016/j.curtheres.2022.100666
- 147. Wang R, Song X, Chen Y, Wang N, Wang J. Comparison of ondansetron and tropisetron in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Saudi Med J. Jul 2021;42(7):707-713. doi:10.15537/smj.2021.42.7.20210135
- 148. Aydin A, Kacmaz M, Boyaci A. Comparison of ondansetron, tropisetron, and palonosetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after middle ear surgery. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp. 2019;91:17-21. doi:10.1016/j. curtheres.2019.06.002
- **149.** Highlights of Prescribing Information, Zofran (ondansetron hydrochloride) injection. Accessed 07/26/2024, https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda docs/label/2017/020007s047lbl.pdf
- **150.** Prescribing Information, Zofran (ondansetron hydrochloride). Accessed 07/26/2024, https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2011/020103s030,020605s014,020781s014lbl.pdf
- **151.** Ondansetron. Accessed 5/20/24, https://www-clinicalkey-com.srv- proxy2.library.tamu.edu/pharmacology/monograph/453?n=Ondansetron%20Hydrochloride%202mg/ml%20Solution%20for%20Injection&aprid=40712
- **152.** Candiotti KA, Birnbach DJ, Lubarsky DA, et al. The impact of pharmacogenomics on postoperative nausea and vomiting: do CYP2D6 allele copy number and polymorphisms affect the success or failure of ondansetron prophylaxis? Anesthesiology. Mar 2005;102(3):543-9. doi:10.1097/00000542-200503000-00011
- 153. Nejadi JR, Shamseh M, Ronasi N, Birjandi M, Karimi A. Comparison of the Effects of Dexamethasone and Ondansetron on the Reduction of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting following Cesarean Section under Spinal Anesthesia. Curr Rev Clin Exp Pharmacol. 2021;16(1):117-122. doi:10.2174/1574884715666200302122800
- **154.** Palonosetron. UpToDate. Accessed 07/08/2024, https://online-lexi-com.srv-proxy1.library.tamu.edu/lco/action/search?q=palonosetron+hydrochloride&t=name&acs=true&acq=palonosetron
- **155.** Granisetron. Accessed 05/23/2024, https://online.lexi.com.
- **156.** Granisetron. Accessed 05/20/2024, https://www-clinicalkey-com.srv-proxy2.library.tamu.edu/pharmacology/monograph/282?type=1&sec=monindi&aprid=44232
- **157.** Gan TJ, Candiotti KA, Klein SM, et al. Double-blind comparison of granisetron, promethazine, or a combination of both for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in females undergoing outpatient laparoscopies. Can J Anaesth. Nov 2009;56(11):829-36. doi:10.1007/s12630-009-9175-x
- **158.** Rabasseda X. Ramosetron, a 5-HT3 receptor antagonist for the control of nausea and vomiting. Drugs Today (Barc). Feb 2002;38(2):75-89. doi:10.1358/dot.2002.38.2.820104
- 159. Weibel S, Pace NL, Schaefer MS, et al. Drugs for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting in adults after general anesthesia: An abridged Cochrane network meta-analysis. J Evid Based Med. Sep 2021;14(3):188-197. doi:10.1111/jebm.12429
- 160. De Oliveira GS, Jr., Almeida MD, Benzon HT, McCarthy RJ. Perioperative single dose systemic dexamethasone for postoperative pain: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesthesiology. Sep 2011;115(3):575-88. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e31822a24c2
- **161.** Corcoran TB, Myles PS, Forbes AB, et al. Dexamethasone and Surgical-Site Infection. N Engl J Med. May 6 2021;384(18):1731-1741. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2028982
- 162. Corcoran TB, Martin C, O'Loughlin E, et al. Dexamethasone and clinically significant postoperative nausea and vomiting: a prespecified substudy of the randomised perioperative administration of dexamethasone and infection (PADDI) trial. Br J Anaesth. Sep 2022;129(3):327-335. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2022.05.018
- **163.** Polderman JA, Farhang-Razi V, Van Dieren S, et al. Adverse side effects of dexamethasone in surgical patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Nov 23 2018;11(11):Cd011940. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011940.pub3
- 164. Pang QY, Wang JY, Liang XL, Jiang Y, Liu HL. The safety of perioperative dexamethasone with antiemetic dosage in surgical patients with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Perioper Med (Lond). Mar 8 2023;12(1):4. doi:10.1186/s13741-023-00293-4
- **165.** Ismail EA, Abo Elfadl GM, Bahloul M. Comparison of intraperitoneal versus intravenous dexamethasone on postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynecological laparoscopy: a randomized clinical trial. Korean J Anesthesiol. Feb 2019;72(1):47-52. doi:10.4097/kja.d.18.00132

- 166. Nazemroaya B, Keleidari B, Arabzadeh A, Honarmand A. Comparison of Intraperitoneal Versus Intravenous Dexamethasone on Postoperative Pain, Nausea, and Vomiting After Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. Anesth Pain Med. Apr 2022;12(2):e122203. doi:10.5812/aapm-122203
- 167. Vandana P, Ananya N, Muralikrishna D, Ponduru S, Renganathan V, Gopinath R. Analgesic efficacy of intra-peritoneal instillation of dexamethasone and bupivacaine versus bupivacaine following laparoscopic cholecystectomy A randomised, double-blind controlled study. Indian J Anaesth. Nov 2023;67(11):999-1003. doi:10.4103/ija.ija_275_23
- 168. Smyla N, Eberhart L, Weibel S, Kranke P. Amisulpride for the prevention and treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting: A quantitative systematic review (meta-analysis). Drugs of the Future. 01/01 2019;44:453. doi:10.1358/dof.2019.44.6.2973350
- 169. Kranke P, Eberhart L, Motsch J, et al. I.V. APD421 (amisulpride) prevents postoperative nausea and vomiting: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. Br J Anaesth. Dec 2013;111(6):938-45. doi:10.1093/bja/aet251
- **170.** Gan TJ, Kranke P, Minkowitz HS, et al. Intravenous Amisulpride for the Prevention of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: Two Concurrent, Randomized, Double-blind, Placebo-controlled Trials. Anesthesiology. Feb 2017;126(2):268-275. doi:10.1097/aln.000000000001458
- 171. Candiotti KA, Kranke P, Bergese SD, et al. Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study of Intravenous Amisulpride as Treatment of Established Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Patients Who Have Had No Prior Prophylaxis. Anesth Analg. Jun 2019;128(6):1098-1105. doi:10.1213/ane.000000000003733
- 172. Habib AS, Kranke P, Bergese SD, et al. Amisulpride for the Rescue Treatment of Postoperative Nausea or Vomiting in Patients Failing Prophylaxis: A Randomized, Placebo-controlled Phase III Trial. Anesthesiology. Feb 2019;130(2):203-212. doi:10.1097/aln.000000000002509
- 173. Kranke P, Bergese SD, Minkowitz HS, et al. Amisulpride prevents postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients at high risk: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Anesthesiology. 2018 2018;128(6):1099-1106. doi:doi:10.1097/aln.000000000002133
- 174. Täubel J, Ferber G, Fox G, Fernandes S, Lorch U, Camm AJ. Thorough QT study of the effect of intravenous amisulpride on QTc interval in Caucasian and Japanese healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol. Feb 2017;83(2):339-348. doi:10.1111/bcp.13128
- 175. Fox GM, Albayaty M, Walker JL, Xue H, Darpo B. Intravenous Amisulpride Does Not Meaningfully Prolong the QTc Interval at Doses Effective for the Management of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting. Anesth Analg. Jan 2021;132(1):150-159. doi:10.1213/ane.0000000000004538
- 176. Gupta A, Gupta D, Gupta P, et al. Evaluation of the role of preoperative oral amisulpride as part of a multimodal antiemetic prophylaxis regime on postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing craniotomy: A prospective, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. Journal of neurosurgical anesthesiology. 2023-8-22 2023;doi:doi:10.1097/ana.000000000000000036
- 177. Fortney JT, Gan TJ, Graczyk S, et al. A comparison of the efficacy, safety, and patient satisfaction of ondansetron versus droperidol as antiemetics for elective outpatient surgical procedures. S3A-409 and S3A-410 Study Groups. Anesth Analg. Apr 1998;86(4):731-8. doi:10.1097/00000539-199804000-00011
- **178.** Henzi I, Sonderegger J, Tramèr MR. Efficacy, dose-response, and adverse effects of droperidol for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Can J Anaesth. Jun 2000;47(6):537-51. doi:10.1007/bf03018945
- 179. Sridharan K, Sivaramakrishnan G. Drugs for preventing post-operative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy: Network meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials and trial sequential analysis. International journal of surgery (London, England). 2019 2019;69:1-12. doi:doi:10.1016/j.ijsu.2019.07.002
- **180.** Maeda K, Higashibeppu N, Yamamoto S, Takenobu T, Taniike N. Comparative Efficacy of Granisetron and Droperidol After Orthognathic Surgery for Prophylaxis of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: A Retrospective Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. Sep 2023;81(9):1094-1101. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2023.05.010
- **181.** Ludwin DB, Shafer SL. Con: The black box warning on droperidol should not be removed (but should be clarified!). Anesth Analg. May 2008;106(5):1418-20. doi:10.1213/ane.0b013e3181684e6a
- **182.** Tracz K, Owczuk R. Small doses of droperidol do not present relevant torsadogenic actions: a double-blind, ondansetron-controlled study. Br J Clin Pharmacol. Apr 2015;79(4):669-76. doi:10.1111/bcp.12527

- **183.** Agámez Medina GL, González-Arévalo A, Gómez-Arnau JI, et al. Effects of droperidol and ondansetron on dispersion of ventricular repolarization: A randomized double-blind clinical study in anesthetized adult patients. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. Nov 2015;62(9):495-501. doi:10.1016/j.redar.2015.01.017
- **184.** Chan MT, Choi KC, Gin T, et al. The additive interactions between ondansetron and droperidol for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anesth Analg. Nov 2006;103(5):1155-62. doi:10.1213/01.ane.0000239223.74552.0a
- 185. Nuttall GA, Malone AM, Michels CA, et al. Does low-dose droperidol increase the risk of polymorphic ventricular tachycardia or death in the surgical patient? Anesthesiology. Feb 2013;118(2):382-6. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e31827dde8d
- **187.** Tan JQ, Wu HL, Wang YC, et al. Antiemetic prophylaxis with droperidol in morphine-based intravenous patient-controlled analgesia: a propensity score matched cohort study. BMC Anesthesiol. Oct 28 2023;23(1):351. doi:10.1186/s12871-023-02319-2
- **188.** Uda S, Takeda C, Mizota T. Effect of droperidol addition to fentanyl-based intravenous patient-controlled analgesia on postoperative nausea and vomiting: a single-center retrospective cohort study. JA Clin Rep. Nov 9 2020;6(1):90. doi:10.1186/s40981-020-00396-7
- 189. Schaub I, Lysakowski C, Elia N, Tramèr MR. Low-dose droperidol (≤1 mg or ≤15 μg kg-1) for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in adults: quantitative systematic review of randomised controlled trials. Eur J Anaesthesiol. Jun 2012;29(6):286-94. doi:10.1097/EJA.0b013e328352813f
- **190.** Gan TJ, Jin Z, Meyer TA. Rescue Treatment of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: A Systematic Review of Current Clinical Evidence. Anesth Analg. Nov 1 2022;135(5):986-1000. doi:10.1213/ane.0000000000006126
- **191.** Habib AS, Gan TJ. Haloperidol for postoperative nausea and vomiting: are we reinventing the wheel? Anesth Analg. May 2008;106(5):1343-5. doi:10.1213/ane.0b013e31816a6aff
- 192. Singh PM, Borle A, Makkar JK, Trikha A, Fish D, Sinha A. Haloperidol Versus 5-HT(3) Receptor Antagonists for Postoperative Vomiting and QTc Prolongation: A Noninferiority Meta-Analysis and Trial Sequential Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Clin Pharmacol. Feb 2018;58(2):131-143. doi:10.1002/jcph.999
- 193. Büttner M, Walder B, von Elm E, Tramèr MR. Is low-dose haloperidol a useful antiemetic?: A meta-analysis of published and unpublished randomized trials. Anesthesiology. Dec 2004;101(6):1454-63. doi:10.1097/00000542-200412000-00028
- 194. Wang TF, Liu YH, Chu CC, Shieh JP, Tzeng JI, Wang JJ. Low-dose haloperidol prevents post-operative nausea and vomiting after ambulatory laparoscopic surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Feb 2008;52(2):280-4. doi:10.1111/j.1399-6576.2007.01525.x
- **195.** Yang YL, Lai HY, Wang JJ, et al. The timing of haloperidol administration does not affect its prophylactic antiemetic efficacy. Can J Anaesth. May 2008;55(5):270-5. doi:10.1007/bf03017203
- **196.** Yazbeck-Karam VG, Siddik-Sayyid SM, Barakat HB, Korjian S, Aouad MT. Haloperidol Versus Ondansetron for Treatment of Established Nausea and Vomiting Following General Anesthesia: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Anesth Analg. Feb 2017;124(2):438-444. doi:10.1213/ane.000000000001723
- **197.** Dag M, Kılıç E, Tasdogan A. Is low dose haloperidol effective in PONV? A randomized controlled trial. Dubai Medical Journal 2020 2:125-133.
- 198. Naemi AR, Kashanitabar V, Kamali A, Shiva A. Comparison of the Effects of Haloperidol, Metoclopramide, Dexmedetomidine and Ginger on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting After Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. J Med Life. Apr-Jun 2020;13(2):206-210. doi:10.25122/jml-2019-0070
- 199. Heriwardito A, Manggala SK, Widhyanti SI, Aristya L. Haloperidol vs. Dexamethasone in Lowering Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting and Pain in Adult After Laparoscopy: A Randomized, Double-Blind Study. Bali Journal of Anesthesiology. 2022;6(3):157-161. doi:10.4103/bjoa.bjoa_101_22
- 200. De Oliveira GS, Jr., Castro-Alves LJ, Chang R, Yaghmour E, McCarthy RJ. Systemic metoclopramide to prevent postoperative nausea and vomiting: a meta-analysis without Fujii's studies. Br J Anaesth. Nov 2012;109(5):688-97. doi:10.1093/bja/aes325

- 201. Regasa T, Aweke Z, Neme D, Hailu S, Jemal B, Mekonen S. Comparison of prophylactic dexamethasone, metoclopramide, and combination of dexamethasone and metoclopramide for prevention of post-operative nausea and vomiting for major gynaecological surgery in Hawassa university compressive specialized hospital, Ethiopia, 2019. International Journal of Surgery Open. 10/16 2020;27:18-24. doi:10.1016/j.ijso.2020.10.004
- 202. Ekka N, Gupta S, Parihar R, Gupta A, Singhal S. Comparative Study to Determine the Prophylactic Efficacy of Metoclopramide and Dexamethasone on Intra and Post Operative Nausea and Vomiting in Elective Cesarean Section under Spinal Anaesthesia Journal of Cardiovascular Disease Research. 2023;14(4):417-425.
- **203.** Gautam M, Suresh Y, Anupama S, Gulam O, Kavya P. Comparison prophylactic glycopyrrolate dexamethasone metoclopramide in control of nausea and vomiting after spinal anesthesia for cesarean delivery. Indian Journal of Public Health Research & Development. 2019;10(7):261-266.
- 204. Hendre A, Bhale R. Comparison of ondansetron and metoclopramide for prevention of nausea and vomiting in elective L SCS under spinal anesthesia. International Journal of pharmaceutical and clinical research International Journal of pharmaceutical and clinical research. 2021;13(5):208-214.
- 205. Al-Radeef M, ABood S, Abdulsahib W, Hamad O. Comparing the effect of dexamethasone normal saline and metoclopramide on preventing prevention of postoperative nausea vomiting and pain in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy or open appendectomy: A randomized clinical trial. Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences 2020;8:139-144.
- **206.** Aponvie®IV aprepitant Heron Therapeutics Inc. Accessed 07/07/2024, https://aponvie.com/pdf/prescribing-information.pdf
- **207.** Proven Bioequivalence to Oral Aprepitant. Heron Therapeutics Inc. Accessed 07/07/2024, https://aponvie.com/bioequivalence/#bioequivalence-study
- 208. Cavaye J, Dai B, Gurunathan K, Weir RM, Yerkovich S, Gurunathan U. NK1 receptor antagonists versus other antiemetics in the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting following laparoscopic surgical procedures: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. Jan-Mar 2022;38(1):35-47. doi:10.4103/joacp. JOACP_464_20
- **209.** Liu Y, Chen X, Wang X, et al. The efficacy of aprepitant for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: A meta-analysis. Medicine. 2023 2023;102(29):e34385. doi:doi:10.1097/md.0000000000034385
- **210.** Dolai S, Mandal S, Mukhopadhyay B, Jana D. A comparative clinical evaluation regarding efficacy between ondansetron and aprepitant in prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patietns undergoing general anaesthesia for laparoscopic cholecystectomy operation. J Cardiovascular Dis Res. 2023;14(5):113-127.
- **211.** Mukhopadhyay B, Mazumdar M, Mandal S, Saha S. Aprepitant vs ramosetron-their role in the prevention of post operative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing abdominal surgeries under general anesthesia A randomized controlled study. J Cardiovascular Dis Res. 2023;14(5):476-492.
- 212. Alam M, Shakeri A, Khorsand A, Nasseri K, Nasseri S. Assessing the impact of aprepitant and ondansetron on postoperative nausea and vomiting in orthognathic surgeries: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Anesthesiol. Dec 13 2023;23(1):412. doi:10.1186/s12871-023-02371-y
- 213. Wajid Q, Ashraf S, Khan S, Khurshid H, Khan K, Ahmed T. A comparative study between the effects of aprepitant and ondansetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparascopic cholecystectomy. Pakistan J Med and Health Sciences. 2022;16(12):582-585.
- 214. Jeyabalan S, Thampi SM, Karuppusami R, Samuel K. Comparing the efficacy of aprepitant and ondansetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV): A double blinded, randomised control trial in patients undergoing breast and thyroid surgeries. Indian J Anaesth. Apr 2019;63(4):289-294. doi:10.4103/ija.IJA 724 18
- 215. Murakami C, Kakuta N, Satomi S, et al. [Neurokinin-1 receptor antagonists for postoperative nausea and vomiting: a systematic review and meta-analysis]. Braz J Anesthesiol. Sep-Oct 2020;70(5):508-519. Antagonistas do receptor da neurocinina ☐ 1 no tratamento de náusea e vômito no pós ☐ operatório: Revisão sistemática e meta ☐ análise. doi:10.1016/j.bjan.2020.04.005
- **216.** Braga ELC, Verçosa N, Cavalcanti IL. Comparative Study Between Fosaprepitant and Palonosetron in the Prophylaxis of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Women Undergoing Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy: Prospective, Randomized and Double-Blind Study. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:915347. doi:10.3389/fphar.2022.915347

- 217. Aghazarian GS, Lind R, Motola D, et al. Impact of Emend on Perioperative Bariatric Surgery Antiemetic Utilization, Patient Satisfaction, and Costs. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. Jun 1 2023;33(3):265-269. doi:10.1097/sle.00000000001101
- 218. Chen Y, Chang J. Anti-emetic Drugs for Prophylaxis of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting After Craniotomy: An Updated Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis. Front Med (Lausanne). 2020;7:40. doi:10.3389/fmed.2020.00040
- 219. Kranke P, Morin AM, Roewer N, Eberhart LH. Dimenhydrinate for prophylaxis of postoperative nausea and vomiting: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Mar 2002;46(3):238-44. doi:10.1034/j.1399-6576.2002.t01-1-460303.x
- **220.** Eberhart LH, Seeling W, Bopp TI, Morin AM, Georgieff M. Dimenhydrinate for prevention of post-operative nausea and vomiting in female in-patients. Eur J Anaesthesiol. May 1999;16(5):284-9. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2346.1999.00477.x
- 221. Kothari SN, Boyd WC, Bottcher ML, Lambert PJ. Antiemetic efficacy of prophylactic dimenhydrinate (Dramamine) vs ondansetron (Zofran): a randomized, prospective trial inpatients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surg Endosc. Oct 2000;14(10):926-9. doi:10.1007/s004640080055
- 222. De Oliveira GS, Jr., Bialek J, Marcus RJ, McCarthy R. Dose-ranging effect of systemic diphenhydramine on postoperative quality of recovery after ambulatory laparoscopic surgery: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blinded, clinical trial. J Clin Anesth. Nov 2016;34:46-52. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2016.03.046
- 223. Pourfakhr P, Ziaei SH, Etezadi F, Sharifinia M, Khajavi MR. Diphenhydramine definitely suppresses fentanyl-induced cough during general anesthesia induction: A double-blind, randomized, and placebo-controlled study. Acta medica Iranica. 2019;57(5):316-319. doi:10.18502/acta.v57i5.1868
- 224. Pourfakhr P, Aghabagheri M, Zabihi Mahmoudabadi H, Najjari K, Talebpour M, Khajavi MR. Prophylactic administration of diphenhydramine/acetaminophen and ondansetron reduced postoperative nausea and vomiting and pain following laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: A randomized controlled trial. Obesity surgery. 2021;31(10):4371-4375. doi:10.1007/s11695-021-05589-2
- 225. Khalil S, Philbrook L, Rabb M, et al. Ondansetron/promethazine combination or promethazine alone reduces nausea and vomiting after middle ear surgery. J Clin Anesth. Nov 1999;11(7):596-600. doi:10.1016/s0952-8180(99)00103-8
- 226. Talebpour M, Ghiasnejad Omrani N, Imani F, Shariat Moharari R, Pourfakhr P, Khajavi MR. Comparison Effect of Promethazine/Dexamethasone and Metoclopramide /Dexamethasone on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting after Laparascopic Gastric Placation: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Anesth Pain Med. Aug 2017;7(4):e57810. doi:10.5812/ aapm.57810
- 227. Chia YY, Lo Y, Liu K, Tan PH, Chung NC, Ko NH. The effect of promethazine on postoperative pain: a comparison of preoperative, postoperative, and placebo administration in patients following total abdominal hysterectomy. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. May 2004;48(5):625-30. doi:10.1111/j.1399-6576.2004.00369.x
- 228. Habib AS, Gan TJ. The effectiveness of rescue antiemetics after failure of prophylaxis with ondansetron or droperidol: a preliminary report. J Clin Anesth. Feb 2005;17(1):62-5. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2004.04.004
- 229. Habib AS, Reuveni J, Taguchi A, White WD, Gan TJ. A comparison of ondansetron with promethazine for treating postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients who received prophylaxis with ondansetron: a retrospective database analysis. Anesth Analg. Mar 2007;104(3):548-51. doi:10.1213/01.ane.0000252433.73485.be
- 230. Deitrick CL, Mick DJ, Lauffer V, Prostka E, Nowak D, Ingersoll G. A comparison of two differing doses of promethazine for the treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting. J Perianesth Nurs. Feb 2015;30(1):5-13. doi:10.1016/j. jopan.2014.01.009
- 231. Barney EZ, Fuller ME, Habib AS. Comparison of metoclopramide and promethazine for the treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting in the post-anesthesia care unit: A retrospective database analysis. Journal of clinical anesthesia. Mar 2020;60:47-48. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2019.08.012
- 232. Kranke P, Morin AM, Roewer N, Wulf H, Eberhart LH. The efficacy and safety of transdermal scopolamine for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: a quantitative systematic review. Anesth Analg. Jul 2002;95(1):133-43, table of contents. doi:10.1097/00000539-200207000-00024
- 233. Apfel CC, Zhang K, George E, et al. Transdermal scopolamine for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Ther. Nov 2010;32(12):1987-2002. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2010.11.014

- 234. Griffiths JD, Gyte GML, Popham PA, et al. Interventions for preventing nausea and vomiting in women undergoing regional anaesthesia for caesarean section. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2021;2021(5):CD007579. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007579.pub3
- 235. Courtepatte A, Kelly M, Minassian VA. The effect of preoperative scopolamine patch use on postoperative urinary retention in urogynecologic surgeries. International urogynecology journal. 2023;34(4):861-866. doi:10.1007/s00192-022-05165-x
- 236. Lanpher NW, Schnittka EM, Haggag A. Transdermal scopolamine and urinary retention following urogynecologic surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Urogynecol J. Aug 2023;34(8):1689-1696. doi:10.1007/s00192-023-05467-8
- 237. Sin JCK, Tabah A, Campher MJJ, Laupland KB, Eley VA. The effect of dexmedetomidine on postanesthesia care unit discharge and recovery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2022;134(6):1229-1244. doi:10.1213/ane.000000000005843
- 238. De Cassai A, Sella N, Geraldini F, et al. Preoperative dexmedetomidine and intraoperative bradycardia in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A meta-analysis with trial sequential analysis. Korean journal of anesthesiology. 2022;75(3):245-254. doi:10.4097/kja.21359
- 239. Liu Y, Zhao G, Zang X, Lu F, Liu P, Chen W. Effect of dexmedetomidine on opioid consumption and pain control after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Wideochirurgia i inne techniki maloinwazyjne = Videosurgery & other miniinvasive techniques. 2021;16(3):491-500. doi:10.5114/wiitm.2021.104197
- 240. Zhang W, Wang R, Li B, Zhao Y, Liu X, Yuan J. The effect of dexmedetomidine on postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing thoracic surgery-a meta-analysis of a randomized controlled trial. Frontiers in surgery. 2022;9:863249. doi:10.3389/fsurg.2022.863249
- 241. Hung TY, Lin YC, Wang YL, Lin MC. Efficacy and safety of intravenous dexmedetomidine as an adjuvant to general anesthesia in gynecological surgeries: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Taiwanese Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2023;62(2):239-251. doi:10.1016/j.tjog.2022.11.010
- **242.** Tian C, Malhan RS, Deng SX, et al. Benefits of dexmedetomidine on postoperative analgesia after bariatric surgery. Minerva anestesiologica. 2022;88(3):173-183. doi:10.23736/s0375-9393.21.15986-3
- 243. Zhang Y, Zhou Y, Hu T, et al. Dexmedetomidine reduces postoperative pain and speeds recovery after bariatric surgery: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Surgery for obesity & related diseases: official journal of the American Society for Bariatric Surgery. 2022;18(6):846-853. doi:10.1016/j.soard.2022.03.002
- 244. Chen Y, Li M, Zheng Y, Chen A, Li C. The preventive effect of dexmedetomidine on anesthesia complications in strabismus surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC anesthesiology. 2023;23(1):253. doi:10.1186/ s12871-023-02215-9
- 245. Zhao W, Li J, Wang N, et al. Effect of dexmedetomidine on postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients under general anaesthesia: An updated meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ open. 2023;13(8):e067102. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2022-067102
- 246. Chen R, Sun S, Li Y, et al. Efficacy and safety evaluation of dexmedetomidine for postoperative patient controlled intravenous analgesia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Frontiers in pharmacology. 2022;13:1028704. doi:10.3389/fphar.2022.1028704
- 247. Xu N, Chen L, Liu L, Rong W. Dexmedetomidine versus remifentanil for controlled hypotension under general anesthesia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2023;18(1):e0278846. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0278846
- 248. Xu S, Wang S, Hu S, Ju X, Li Q, Li Y. Effects of lidocaine, dexmedetomidine, and their combination infusion on postoperative nausea and vomiting following laparoscopic hysterectomy: a randomized controlled trial. BMC anesthesiology. 2021;21(1471-2253 (Electronic)):199.
- 249. Xu S, Liu N, Yu X, Wang S. Effect of co-administration of intravenous lidocaine and dexmedetomidine on the recovery from laparoscopic hysterectomy: A randomized controlled trial. Minerva Anestesiologica. 2023;89(1-2):10-21. doi:10.23736/s0375-9393.22.16522-3
- **250.** Rothenberg DM, Parnass SM, Litwack K, McCarthy RJ, Newman LM. Efficacy of ephedrine in the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anesth Analg. Jan 1991;72(1):58-61. doi:10.1213/00000539-199101000-00010
- 251. Hagemann E, Halvorsen A, Holgersen O, Tveit T, Raeder JC. Intramuscular ephedrine reduces emesis during the first three hours after abdominal hysterectomy. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Jan 2000;44(1):107-11. doi:10.1034/j.1399-6576.2000.440119.x

- 252. Dalaei D, Modir H, Pazoki S, Naimi AR. The therapeutic antiemetic and hemodynamic effects of dexmedetomidine, ephedrine, and dexamethasone in combination with midazolam on laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients: A randomised clinical trial. Journal of the West African College of Surgeons. 2022;12(2):96-103. doi:10.4103/jwas.jwas_133_22
- 253. Valu AG, Chandra MS, Paul R, Mamtaz A. Comparative evaluation of two different doses of im ephedrine for reducing post operative nausea and vomiting following laparoscopic tubectomies: A randomized controlled trail. Journal of cardiovascular disease research. 2022;13(4):1259-1275. doi:10.31838/jcdr.2022.13.04.154
- 254. Hyman JB, Park C, Lin HM, et al. Olanzapine for the Prevention of Postdischarge Nausea and Vomiting after Ambulatory Surgery: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Anesthesiology. Jun 2020;132(6):1419-1428. doi:10.1097/aln.0000000000003286
- 255. Grigio TR, Timmerman H, Martins JVB, Slullitel A, Wolff AP, Sousa AM. Olanzapine as an add-on, pre-operative antiemetic drug for postoperative nausea or vomiting: A randomised controlled trial. Anaesthesia. 2023;78(10):1206-1214. doi:10.1111/anae.16081
- 256. Grigio TR, Timmerman H, Sousa AM, Wolff AP. Olanzapine as a prophylactic antiemetic for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting after general anesthesia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clinics (Sao Paulo). 2024;79:100345. doi:10.1016/j.clinsp.2024.100345
- 257. Au E, Zhao K, Belley-Côté E, et al. The effect of perioperative benzodiazepine administration on postoperative nausea and vomiting: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Br J Anaesth. Mar 2024;132(3):469-482. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2023.11.045
- 258. Hines S, Steels E, Chang A, Gibbons K. Aromatherapy for treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Mar 10 2018;3(3):CD007598. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007598.pub3
- 259. Erdogan-Ongel E, Heung Y, Rozman De Moraes A, Geng Y, Bruera E. Inhalation of isopropyl alcohol for the management of nausea and vomiting: A systematic review. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2023;26(1):94-100. doi:10.1089/jpm.2022.0332
- 260. Rambod M, Pasyar N, Karimian Z, Farbood A. The effect of lemon inhalation aromatherapy on pain, nausea, as well as vomiting and neurovascular assessment in patients for lower extremity fracture surgery: A randomized trial. BMC Complementary Medicine & Therapies. 2023;23(1):208. doi:10.1186/s12906-023-04047-z
- **261.** Zhao C, Chen W, Wang D, et al. Ginger (zingiber officinale roscoe) preparations for prophylaxis of postoperative nausea and vomiting: A bayesian network meta-analysis. Journal of ethnopharmacology. 2023;317:116791. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2023.116791
- 262. Lu C, Chen X, Yan X, He J, Nie Z. The preventive and relieving effects of ginger on postoperative nausea and vomiting: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. International journal of nursing studies. 2022;125:104094. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.104094
- 263. Lee A, Chan SK, Fan LT. Stimulation of the wrist acupuncture point PC6 for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Nov 2 2015;2015(11):Cd003281. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003281.pub4
- **264.** Zhang M, Zhang H, Li P, Li J. Effect of transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation on the quality of postoperative recovery: a meta-analysis. BMC Anesthesiol. Mar 19 2024;24(1):104. doi:10.1186/s12871-024-02483-z
- 265. Kim YH, Kim KS, Lee HJ, Shim JC, Yoon SW. The efficacy of several neuromuscular monitoring modes at the P6 acupuncture point in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anesth Analg. Apr 2011;112(4):819-23. doi:10.1213/ANE.0b013e31820f819e
- **266.** Darvall JN, Handscombe M, Leslie K. Chewing gum for the treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Br J Anaesth. Jan 2017;118(1):83-89. doi:10.1093/bja/aew375
- 267. Abdelkarim H, Ciampoli N, Zwakman-Hessels L, Darvall JN, Bellomo R. Chewing gum prophylaxis for postoperative nausea and vomiting in the intensive care unit: a pilot randomised controlled trial. Crit Care Resusc. Dec 2020;22(4):321-326. doi:10.51893/2020.4.Oa4
- 268. Bowe R, Irwin R, Browne G, et al. Chewing gum for prevention of nausea and vomiting after elective caesarean section: A pilot randomised controlled trial. SN Comprehensive Clinical Medicine. 2022;4(1):257. doi:10.1007/s42399-022-01332-9
- 269. Ahsan K, Abbas N, Naqvi SM, Murtaza G, Tariq S. Comparison of efficacy of ondansetron and dexamethasone combination and ondansetron alone in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. J Pak Med Assoc. Mar 2014;64(3):242-6.

- 270. Aghadavoudi O, Mirkheshti M. Evaluating the Effect of Intravenous Haloperidol and Midazolam on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting after Strabismus Surgery | Omid Aghadavoudi | Request PDF. Journal of Isfahan Medical School. 2019:281. doi:http://dx.doi.org/
- **271.** Benevides ML, Oliveira SS, de Aguilar-Nascimento JE. The combination of haloperidol, dexamethasone, and ondansetron for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: a randomized double-blind trial. Obes Surg. Sep 2013;23(9):1389-96. doi:10.1007/s11695-013-0923-1
- 272. Cho E, Kim DH, Shin S, Kim SH, Oh YJ, Choi YS. Efficacy of Palonosetron-Dexamethasone Combination Versus Palonosetron Alone for Preventing Nausea and Vomiting Related to Opioid-Based Analgesia: A Prospective, Randomized, Double-blind Trial. Int J Med Sci. 2018;15(10):961-968. doi:10.7150/ijms.24230
- **273.** Cho JS, Kim EJ, Lee JH, et al. Betahistine reduces postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic gynecological surgery. Minerva Anestesiol. Jun 2016;82(6):649-56.
- 274. Honarmand A, Safavi M, Khalili G, Mohammadnejad F. Prophylactic administration of haloperidol plus midazolam reduces postoperative nausea and vomiting better than using each drug alone in patients undergoing middle ear surgery. Saudi J Anaesth. Apr 2012;6(2):145-51. doi:10.4103/1658-354x.97028
- 275. Joo J, Park YG, Baek J, Moon YE. Haloperidol dose combined with dexamethasone for PONV prophylaxis in high-risk patients undergoing gynecological laparoscopic surgery: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, dose-response and placebo-controlled study. BMC Anesthesiol. Jul 8 2015;15:99. doi:10.1186/s12871-015-0081-1
- 276. Kawano H, Matsumoto T, Hamaguchi E, et al. Antiemetic efficacy of combined aprepitant and dexamethasone in patients at high-risk of postoperative nausea and vomiting from epidural fentanyl analgesia. Minerva Anestesiol. Apr 2015;81(4):362-8.
- 277. Kim KM, Huh J, Lee SK, Park EY, Lee JM, Kim HJ. Combination of gabapentin and ramosetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynecologic laparoscopic surgery: a prospective randomized comparative study. BMC Anesthesiol. May 19 2017;17(1):65. doi:10.1186/s12871-017-0357-8
- 278. Kim WJ, Kang H, Shin HY, et al. Ramosetron, midazolam, and combination of ramosetron and midazolam for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: a prospective, randomized, double-blind study. J Int Med Res. Aug 2013;41(4):1203-13. doi:10.1177/0300060513485864
- 279. Lee MJ, Lee KC, Kim HY, Lee WS, Seo WJ, Lee C. Comparison of ramosetron plus dexamethasone with ramosetron alone on postoperative nausea, vomiting, shivering and pain after thyroid surgery. Korean J Pain. Jan 2015;28(1):39-44. doi:10.3344/kjp.2015.28.1.39
- 280. Lee SJ, Lee SM, Kim SI, et al. The effect of aprepitant for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing gynecologic surgery with intravenous patient controlled analgesia using fentanyl: aprepitant plus ramosetron vs ramosetron alone. Korean J Anesthesiol. Sep 2012;63(3):221-6. doi:10.4097/kjae.2012.63.3.221
- 281. Misra S, Parthasarathi G, Vilanilam GC. The effect of gabapentin premedication on postoperative nausea, vomiting, and pain in patients on preoperative dexamethasone undergoing craniotomy for intracranial tumors. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. Oct 2013;25(4):386-91. doi:10.1097/ANA.0b013e31829327eb
- 282. Mukhopadhyay S, Niyogi M, Ray R, Mukhopadhyay BS, Dutta M, Mukherjee M. Betahistine as an add-on: The magic bullet for postoperative nausea, vomiting and dizziness after middle ear surgery? J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. Apr 2013;29(2):205-10. doi:10.4103/0970-9185.111725
- 283. Narayanappa AB, Gurulingaswamy S, Prabhakaraiah UN, Gurushanth SR, Sapare V, Goud N. Intravenous palonosetron compared with a combination of ramosetron and dexamethasone in preventing post operative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing gynaecological surgeries under spinal anaesthesia, a randomised study. Indian J Anaesth. Feb 2017;61(2):144-149. doi:10.4103/0019-5049.199851
- 284. Wang PK, Tsay PJ, Huang CC, et al. Comparison of dexamethasone with ondansetron or haloperidol for prevention of patient-controlled analgesia-related postoperative nausea and vomiting: a randomized clinical trial. World J Surg. Apr 2012;36(4):775-81. doi:10.1007/s00268-012-1446-y
- 285. Yu Q, Gao L, Gu MH, et al. Antiemetic effects of combined methylprednisolone and tropisetron in mastectomy. Minerva Anestesiol. Feb 2013;79(2):130-6.
- 286. Som A, Bhattacharjee S, Maitra S, Arora MK, Baidya DK. Combination of 5-HT3 Antagonist and Dexamethasone Is Superior to 5-HT3 Antagonist Alone for PONV Prophylaxis After Laparoscopic Surgeries: A Meta-analysis. Anesth Analg. Dec 2016;123(6):1418-1426. doi:10.1213/ane.000000000001617

- 287. Sirajuddin M, Naqvi S, Murtaza G, Abbas N. Metoclopramide alone and metoclopramide with dimenhydrinate for prophylaxis of post operative nausea & vomiting in patients admitted in day care for breast surgery | M. Sirajuddin | Request PDF. Medical Channel. 2014;20(1):39-42. doi:http://dx.doi.org/
- 288. Sinha AC, Singh PM, Williams NW, Ochroch EA, Goudra BG. Aprepitant's prophylactic efficacy in decreasing postoperative nausea and vomiting in morbidly obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery. Obesity Surgery. Feb 2014;24(2):225-231. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11695-013-1065-1
- 289. Safarnejad F, Nasseri K, Karami R. Comparison of the effects of aprepitant and ondansetron individually and combining on postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. World Journal of Laparoscopic Surgery. 2021 2021;14(1):39-42. doi:doi:10.5005/jp-journals-10033-1440
- 290. Yoo JH, Kim SI, Chung JW, Jun MR, Han YM, Kim YJ. Aprepitant in combination with palonosetron for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in female patients using intravenous patient-controlled analgesia. Korean journal of anesthesiology. 2018 2018;71(6):440-446. doi:doi:10.4097/kja.d.18.00011
- 291. de Morais LC, Sousa AM, Flora GF, Grigio TR, Guimaraes GMN, Ashmawi HA. Aprepitant as a fourth antiemetic prophylactic strategy in high-risk patients: a double-blind, randomized trial. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Apr 2018;62(4):483-492. doi:10.1111/aas.13064
- 292. Nado H, Singh N, Laithangbam PKS, Shanti Devi RK, Alemwapang O, Gangmei FL. A comparative study between propofol and propofol plus dexamethasone as antiemetic during cesarean section under spinal anesthesia. Journal of Medical Society. 2017;31(3):174-177.
- **293.** El-Deeb A, Abd El Motlb E. Prophylactic multimodal antiemetic in women undergoing cesarean section under spinal anesthesia. Egyptian Journal of Anaesthesia. 2011;27(2):107–111.
- 294. Jin Z, Kowa CY, Gan S, Lin J, Gan TJ. Efficacy of palonosetron-dexamethasone combination compared to palonosetron alone for prophylaxis against postoperative nausea and vomiting. Current Medical Research & Opinion. 2021 2021;37(5):711-718. doi:doi:10.1080/03007995.2021.1893677
- 295. Saini H, Sharma S, Malhotra A, Angral R. Comparative study of methylprednisolone-palonosetron versus granisetron-methylprednisolone combination for prevention of post-operative nausea vomiting in middle ear surgeries. Journal of Cardiovascular Disease Research. 2022 2022;13(4):281-285. doi:doi:10.31838/jcdr.2022.13.04.33
- 296. Yi F, Xiao H, Zhu T, Man Y, Ji F. Prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynaecological day surgery under remimazolam general anesthesia: A randomized double-blind controlled study. BMC anesthesiology. 2022 2022;22(1):292. doi:doi:10.1186/s12871-022-01835-x
- 297. Zhou H, Xu H, Zhang J, Wang W, Wang Y, Hu Z. Combination of dexamethasone and tropisetron before thyroidectomy to alleviate postoperative nausea, vomiting, and pain: randomized controlled trial. World J Surg. Jun 2012;36(6):1217-24. doi:10.1007/s00268-011-1363-5
- 298. Huang Q, Wang F, Liang C, et al. Fosaprepitant for postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing laparoscopic gastrointestinal surgery: A randomised trial. British journal of anaesthesia. 2023 2023;131(4):673-681. doi:doi:10.1016/j.bja.2023.06.029
- 299. Thanuja IL, Parida S, Mishra SK, Badhe AS. Effect of combinations of dexamethasone-ondansetron and dexamethasone-ondansetron-aprepitant versus aprepitant alone for early postoperative nausea and vomiting after day care gynaecological laparoscopy: A randomised clinical trial. Indian journal of anaesthesia. 2021 2021;65(6):465-470. doi:doi:10.4103/ija.IJA_119_21
- **300.** Spaniolas K, Nie L, Moller D, et al. A comprehensive approach for the prevention of nausea and vomiting following sleeve gastrectomy: A randomized controlled trial. Obesity surgery. 2020 2020;30(11):4250-4257. doi:doi:10.1007/s11695-020-04795-8
- **301.** Xiao H, Liu M, Man Y, Wei Y, Ji F. Effect of low-dose propofol combined with dexamethasone on the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in gynaecological day surgery under remimazolam-based general anesthesia. Medicine. 2023 2023;102(10):e33249. doi:doi:10.1097/md.000000000033249
- **302.** Matsota P, Angelidi M, Pandazi A, Tzirogiannis KN, Panoutsopoulos GI, Kostopanagiotou G. Ondansetron-droperidol combination vs. ondansetron or droperidol monotherapy in the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Arch Med Sci. Apr 25 2015;11(2):362-70. doi:10.5114/aoms.2015.50968
- **303.** Papadima A, Gourgiotis S, Lagoudianakis E, et al. Granisetron versus tropisetron in the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting after total thyroidectomy. Saudi J Anaesth. Jan 2013;7(1):68-74. doi:10.4103/1658-354x.109817

- **304.** Hu X, Tan F, Gong L. Higher dose of palonosetron versus lower dose of palonosetron plus droperidol to prevent postoperative nausea and vomiting after eye enucleation and orbital hydroxyapatite implant surgery: a randomized, double-blind trial. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2017;11:1465-1472. doi:10.2147/dddt.s129022
- 305. Kizilcik N, Bilgen S, Menda F, et al. Comparison of Dexamethasone-Dimenhydrinate and Dexamethasone-Ondansetron in Prevention of Nausea and Vomiting in Postoperative Patients. Aesthetic Plast Surg. Feb 2017;41(1):204-210. doi:10.1007/s00266-016-0772-0
- **306.** Grant MC, Kim J, Page AJ, Hobson D, Wick E, Wu CL. The Effect of Intravenous Midazolam on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: A Meta-Analysis. Anesth Analg. Mar 2016;122(3):656-63. doi:10.1213/ane.00000000000000011
- **307.** Hong JM, Han YH, Lee D, et al. Comparison of efficacy between palonosetron-midazolam combination and palonosetron alone for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing breast surgery and patient controlled analgesia: A prospective, randomized, double-blind study: A consort-compliant study. Medicine. 2021 2021;100(26):e26438. doi:doi:10.1097/md.0000000000026438
- 308. Choi EK, Park SJ, Park C, Lim JA. Comparison of palonosetron with combined palonosetron and midazolam for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Medicine. 2021 2021;100(33):e26997. doi:doi:10.1097/md.0000000000026997
- **309.** Shahinpour S, Momeni N, Yaqubnejad M, Khajavi M, Pourfakhr P. Evaluation and comparison of two different combined regimens for prophylaxis of nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic bariatric surgery: A double-blinded randomized clinical trial. Acta medica Iranica. 2023 2023;61(3):175-180. doi:doi:10.18502/acta.v61i3.12740
- **310.** Rusch D, Eberhart LH, Wallenborn J, Kranke P. Nausea and vomiting after surgery under general anesthesia: an evidence-based review concerning risk assessment, prevention, and treatment. Dtsch Arztebl Int. Oct 2010;107(42):733-41. doi:10.3238/arztebl.2010.0733
- 311. Yu L, Yao Z, Wei Q, Qu M, Yang Q, Chang Y. Efficacy of electroacupuncture combined with tropisetron in treating carboprost tromethamine-induced nausea and vomiting during cesarean section under lumbar anesthesia. Complement Med Res. 2021 2021;28(6):516-522. doi:doi:10.1159/000514946
- 312. Gao W, Zhang L, Han X, et al. Transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation decreases the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic non-gastrointestinal surgery: A multi-center randomized controlled trial. Frontiers in medicine. 2022 2022;9:766244. doi:doi:10.3389/fmed.2022.766244
- 313. Pires MC, Barros GAM, Fonseca LGF, Thom MM, Junior PDN, Modolo NSP. Effects of preoperative acupuncture on prevention of nausea and vomiting and plasma serotonin values in the hysterectomy postoperative period: A randomized clinical trial. Journal of acupuncture & meridian studies. 2022 2022;15(5):300. doi:doi:10.51507/j. jams.2022.15.5.300
- 314. Xiong Q, Min S, Wei K, et al. Transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation combined with dexamethasone and tropisetron prevents postoperative nausea and vomiting in female patients undergoing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: Aprospective, randomized controlled trial. Obesity surgery. 2021 2021;31(5):1912-1920. doi:doi:10.1007/s11695-020-05205-9
- 315. Yang XY, Xiao J, Chen YH, et al. Dexamethasone alone vs in combination with transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation or tropisetron for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in gynaecological patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery. Br J Anaesth. Dec 2015;115(6):883-9. doi:10.1093/bja/aev352
- 316. Zhu J, Li S, Wu W, et al. Preoperative electroacupuncture for postoperative nausea and vomiting in laparoscopic gynecological surgery: A randomized controlled trial. Acupuncture in medicine: journal of the British Medical Acupuncture Society. 2022 2022;40(5):415-424. doi:doi:10.1177/09645284221076517
- **317.** Cheong KB, Zhang JP, Huang Y, Zhang ZJ. The effectiveness of acupuncture in prevention and treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting--a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e82474. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.008247410.1371/journal.pone.0082474. eCollection 2013.
- 318. Lee A, Chan SK, Fan LT. Stimulation of the wrist acupuncture point PC6 for preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Nov 02 2015;(11):CD003281. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003281.pub4
- 319. Shilpa HL, Shwetha Odeyar S, Rao SR, Ramesh Kumar PB, Kotre PL, Sultana S. Prophylactic isopropyl alcohol inhalation and intravenous ondansetron versus ondansetron alone in prevention of post operative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing laparoscopic surgeries-a prospective randomised comparative study. European Journal of Molecular & Clinical Medicine. 2023 2023;10(1):2826-2834. doi:doi:

- **320.** Kovac AL, O'Connor TA, Pearman MH, et al. Efficacy of repeat intravenous dosing of ondansetron in controlling postoperative nausea and vomiting: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled multicenter trial. J Clin Anesth. 1999;11(6):453-459. NOT IN FILE.
- 321. Apfel CC, Candiotti K, Gan TJ, Ahmed R, Cox D. Palonosetron or ondansetron for rescue treatment of PONV after failed prophylaxis with ondansetron. Conference Abstract. Anesthesia and Analgesia. 2011;112(5)doi:10.1213/01. ANE.0000403380.73932.6a
- **322.** Kovac AL. Update on the management of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Drugs. Sep 2013;73(14):1525-47. doi:10.1007/s40265-013-0110-7
- **323.** Aprepitant. UpToDate. Accessed 7/8/2024, https://online-lexi-com.srv-proxy1.library.tamu.edu/lco/action/search?q=aprepitant&t=name&acs=true&acq=aprpitant
- **324.** Fosaprepitant. UpToDate. Accessed 7/8/2024, https://online-lexi-com.srv-proxy1.library.tamu.edu/lco/action/search?q=fosaprepitant&t=name&acs=true&acq=fos
- **325.** Kakodkar PS. Routine use of dexamethasone for postoperative nausea and vomiting: the case for Anaesthesia. Sep 2013;68(9):889-91. doi:10.1111/anae.12308
- 326. Transdermal Scopolamine. UpToDate. Accessed 07/08/2024, <a href="https://online-lexi-com.srv-proxy1.library.tamu.edu/lco/action/doc/retrieve/docid/h_f/1801741?cesid=78u1D3oGldk&searchUrl=%2Flco%2Faction%2Fsearch%3Fq%3Dtransderm%2Bscop%26t%3Dname%26acs%3Dtrue%26acg%3Dtransderm
- 327. Eberhart LH, Frank S, Lange H, et al. Systematic review on the recurrence of postoperative nausea and vomiting after a first episode in the recovery room implications for the treatment of PONV and related clinical trials. BMC Anesthesiol. Dec 13 2006;6:14. doi:10.1186/1471-2253-6-14
- 328. Shin HJ, Park YH, Chang M, et al. Effects of ramosetron orally disintegrating tablets on the prophylaxis of post-discharge nausea and/or vomiting in female patients undergoing day surgery under general anesthesia: a randomized controlled trial. Perioper Med (Lond). May 12 2022;11(1):17. doi:10.1186/s13741-022-00251-6
- 329. Moraitis A, Myrberg T, Hultin M, Nyström H, Walldén J. Palonosetron as prophylaxis for post-discharge nausea and vomiting: a prospective, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in ambulatory surgery. Br J Anaesth. Aug 2023;131(2):276-283. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2023.04.034
- **330.** Muchatuta NA, Paech MJ. Management of postoperative nausea and vomiting: focus on palonosetron. Ther Clin Risk Manag. Feb 2009;5(1):21-34.
- **331.** Eberhart LH, Morin AM, Guber D, et al. Applicability of risk scores for postoperative nausea and vomiting in adults to paediatric patients. Br J Anaesth. Sep 2004;93(3):386-92. doi:10.1093/bja/aeh221
- 332. Bourdaud N, Devys JM, Bientz J, et al. Development and validation of a risk score to predict the probability of postoperative vomiting in pediatric patients: the VPOP score. Paediatr Anaesth. Sep 2014;24(9):945-52. doi:10.1111/pan.12428
- 333. Eberhart LHJ, Geldner G, Kranke P, et al. The development and validation of a risk score to predict the probability of postoperative vomiting in pediatric patients. Anesth Analg. Dec 2004;99(6):1630-1637. doi:10.1213/01. ANE.0000135639.57715.6C
- **334.** Eberhart LH, Hogel J, Seeling W, Staack AM, Geldner G, Georgieff M. Evaluation of three risk scores to predict postoperative nausea and vomiting. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. Apr 2000;44(4):480-8. doi:10.1034/j.1399-6576.2000.440422.x
- 335. Schaefer MS, Kranke P, Weibel S, Kreysing R, Ochel J, Kienbaum P. Total intravenous anesthesia vs single pharmacological prophylaxis to prevent postoperative vomiting in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Paediatr Anaesth. Dec 2017;27(12):1202-1209. doi:10.1111/pan.13268
- **336.** Scheiermann P, Herzog F, Siebenhofer A, Strametz R, Weberschock T. Intravenous versus inhalational anesthesia for pediatric inpatient surgery a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of clinical anesthesia. 2018;49:19-25. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2018.05.014
- **337.** Erdem AF, Yoruk O, Alici HA, et al. Subhypnotic propofol infusion plus dexamethasone is more effective than dexamethasone alone for the prevention of vomiting in children after tonsillectomy. Paediatr Anaesth. Sep 2008;18(9):878-83. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9592.2008.02675.x

- 338. Lee Y, Banooni A, Yuki K, Staffa SJ, DiNardo JA, Brown ML. Incidence and predictors of postoperative nausea and vomiting in children undergoing electrophysiology ablation procedures. Paediatric anaesthesia. 2020;30(2):147-152. doi:10.1111/pan.13797
- 339. Elgueta MF, Echevarria GC, De la Fuente N, et al. Effect of intravenous fluid therapy on postoperative vomiting in children undergoing tonsillectomy. Br J Anaesth. Apr 2013;110(4):607-14. doi:10.1093/bja/aes453
- **340.** Puri S, Bandyopadhyay A, Ashok V. Supplemental intraoperative crystalloids for pediatric postoperative nausea and vomiting-a systematic review and meta-analysis. Paediatric anaesthesia. 2023;33(1):38-45. doi:10.1111/pan.14566
- **341.** Jewer JK, Wong MJ, Bird SJ, Habib AS, Parker R, George RB. Supplemental perioperative intravenous crystalloids for postoperative nausea and vomiting. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Mar 29 2019;3(4):CD012212. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012212.pub210.1002/14651858.CD012212.pub2.
- **342.** Laird A, Bramley L, Barnes R, et al. Effects of a preoperative carbohydrate load on postoperative recovery in children: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Journal of pediatric surgery. 2023;58(9):1824-1831. doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2023.05.004
- 343. Tudor-Drobjewski BA, Marhofer P, Kimberger O, Huber WD, Roth G, Triffterer L. Randomised controlled trial comparing preoperative carbohydrate loading with standard fasting in paediatric anaesthesia. British journal of anaesthesia. 2018;121(3):656-661. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2018.04.040
- **344.** Vasquez-Camargo A, Gamble J, Fedoruk KA, et al. Intravenous dextrose versus ondansetron for prevention of postoperative vomiting in children: A randomized non-inferiority trial. Canadian journal of anesthesia. Oct 2020;67(10):1333-1340. doi:10.1007/s12630-020-01757-7
- 345. Chauvin C, Schalber-Geyer AS, Lefebvre F, et al. Early postoperative oral fluid intake in paediatric day case surgery influences the need for opioids and postoperative vomiting: A controlled randomized trial&dagger. British journal of anaesthesia. 2017;118(3):407. doi:10.1093/bja/aew463
- 346. Hung TY, Bai GH, Tsai MC, Lin YC. Analgesic Effects of Regional Analgesic Techniques in Pediatric Inguinal Surgeries: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Anesth Analg. Jan 1 2024;138(1):108-122. doi:10.1213/ANE.0000000000000341
- 347. Luo R, Tong X, Yan W, Liu H, Yang L, Zuo Y. Effects of erector spinae plane block on postoperative pain in children undergoing surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Paediatr Anaesth. Oct 2021;31(10):1046-1055. doi:10.1111/pan.14255
- 348. He Y, Li Z, Xu M, Du B, Zuo Y. Single-injection serratus anterior plane block for cardiothoracic surgery via thoracotomy in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ Paediatrics Open. 2023;7(1):e001912. doi:10.1136/bmjpo-2023-001912
- 349. Nakajima D, Kawakami H, Mihara T, Sato H, Goto T. Effectiveness of intravenous lidocaine in preventing postoperative nausea and vomiting in pediatric patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2020 2020;15(1):e0227904. doi:doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0227904
- **350.** Zouche I, Salem AB, Ketata S, Keskes M, Karoui A. Intravenous lidocaine versus dexamethasone to prevent postoperative vomiting in children tonsillectomy: A prospective randomized controlled trial. Pan African medical journal. 2022 2022;42:190. doi:doi:10.11604/pamj.2022.42.190.32171
- **351.** Aksoy M, Ince I, Ahiskalioglu A, Keles S, Doymus O. Effect of intravenous preoperative versus postoperative paracetamol on postoperative nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing strabismus surgery: A prospective randomized study. Agri. Jan 2018;30(1):1-7. doi:10.5505/agri.2017.65872
- 352. Cok OY, Eker HE, Pelit A, et al. The effect of paracetamol on postoperative nausea and vomiting during the first 24 h after strabismus surgery: a prospective, randomised, double-blind study. Eur J Anaesthesiol. Dec 2011;28(12):836-41. doi:10.1097/EJA.0b013e32834c580b
- 353. Jun JH, Kim KN, Kim JY, Song SM. The effects of intranasal dexmedetomidine premedication in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Anaesth. Sep 2017;64(9):947-961. Les effets d'une premedication intranasale de dexmedetomidine chez l'enfant : revue systematique et meta-analyse. doi:10.1007/s12630-017-0917-x
- **354.** Chiang FW, Chang JL, Hsu SC, et al. Dexmedetomidine use in pediatric strabismus surgery: A systematic review and metaanalysis. PLoS One. 2020;15(10 October 2020):e0240553. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0240553
- 355. Hsu YP, Chu KCW, Bai CH, Huang CJ, Chen C, Hsu CW. Safety and efficacy of clonidine on postoperative vomiting and pain in pediatric ophthalmic surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Paediatric anaesthesia. 2019 2019;29(10):1011-1023. doi:doi:10.1111/pan.13712

- **356.** Behera BK, Misra S, Mohanty MK, Srinivasan A. Effect of intra-operative high inspired fraction of oxygen on postoperative nausea and vomiting in children undergoing surgery: A prospective randomised double-blind study. European journal of anaesthesiology. 2021 2021;38(11):1124-1129. doi:doi:10.1097/eja.000000000001577
- 357. Kim MS, Kim HY, Park WK, Kim WS, Kim S, Kim HJ. Effect of timing of intravenous fentanyl administration on the incidence of posttonsillectomy nausea and vomiting. Laryngoscope. 2020;130(12):2900-2905. doi:10.1002/lary.28533
- 358. Oppermann LP, Lubianca Neto JF, Drummond RL, et al. Hypopharyngeal packing during adenotonsillectomy by cold dissection in children: A randomized controlled trial. European archives of oto-rhino-laryngology. 2020;277(9):2603-2609. doi:10.1007/s00405-020-06032-5
- **359.** Andreae MH, Maman SR, Behnam AJ. An electronic medical record-derived individualized performance metric to measure risk-adjusted adherence with perioperative prophylactic bundles for health care disparity research and implementation science. Applied clinical informatics. 2020;11(3):497-514. doi:10.1055/s-0040-1714692
- **360.** Andrew BY, Habib AS, Taicher BM. The association of guideline-directed prophylaxis with postoperative nausea and vomiting in pediatric patients: A single-center, retrospective cohort study. Anesthesia & Analgesia. May 26 2023;doi:10.1213/ane.00000000000006543
- **361.** Safaeian R, Hassani V, Asghari A, Mohseni M, Ashraf H, Koleini ZS. The effects of ondansetron versus dexamethasone on electrocardiographic markers of ventricular repolarization in children undergoing cochlear implant. International journal of pediatric otorhinolaryngology. 2020 2020;132:109896. doi:doi:10.1016/j.ijporl.2020.109896
- **362.** Liu J, Li H, Zhang J, et al. Dexamethasone or combined with others for postoperative nausea and vomiting in children: A systematic review. Asian journal of surgery. 2020;43(9):873-879. doi:10.1016/j.asjsur.2019.11.012
- **363.** Curtis SH, Thorne MC. Comparison of high-versus low-dose corticosteroid administration on post-tonsillectomy outcomes. International journal of pediatric otorhinolaryngology. 2023;165:111434. doi:10.1016/j.ijporl.2022.111434
- **364.** Rafiq F, Akhlaq M, Ahmad W, Ali M, Rehman A, Javid KM. Single intravenous dose of dexamethasone for the prevention of post-tonsillectomy, nausea and vomiting: Does it work? Medical forum monthly. 2020;31(1):63-66.
- 365. Moheimani H, Yaseri M. Dexamethasone reduces postoperative nausea in pediatric upper endoscopy with deep sedation: A randomized controlled trial. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology & Nutrition. 2019;69(3):281-286. doi:10.1097/mpg.0000000000002398
- 366. Frelich M, Divak J, Vodicka V, Masarova M, Jor O, Gal R. Dexamethasone reduces the incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting in children undergoing endoscopic adenoidectomy under general anesthesia without increasing the risk of postoperative hemorrhage. Medical science monitor: international medical journal of experimental & clinical research. 2018;24:8430-8438. doi:10.12659/msm.911231
- 367. Wakamiya R, Seki H, Ideno S, et al. Effects of prophylactic dexamethasone on postoperative nausea and vomiting in scoliosis correction surgery: A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Scientific reports. 2019 2019;9(1):2119. doi:doi:10.1038/s41598-019-38764-8
- 368. Salman FT, DiCristina C, Chain A, Afzal AS. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of aprepitant for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in pediatric subjects. Journal of pediatric surgery. 2019;54(7):1384-1390. doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.09.006
- 369. Bourdaud N, François C, Jacqmarcq O, et al. Addition of droperidol to prophylactic ondansetron and dexamethasone in children at high risk for postoperative vomiting. A randomized, controlled, double-blind study. Br J Anaesth. Jun 1 2017;118(6):918-923. doi:10.1093/bja/aex099
- **370.** Demidovich T, Perez-Franco O, Silvestrini-Suarez M, Yue P. Aggressive prophylactic treatments for postoperative nausea and vomiting improve outcomes in pediatric adenotonsillectomy procedure. The journal of pediatric pharmacology & therapeutics: JPPT: the official journal of PPAG. 2020;25(4):303-308. doi:10.5863/1551-6776-25.4.303
- **371.** Zhang Y, Zhang C, Yan M, Wang N, Liu J, Wu A. The effectiveness of pc6 acupuncture in the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Paediatric anaesthesia. 2020 2020;30(5):552-563. doi:doi:10.1111/pan.13860
- 372. Martin CS, Deverman SE, Norvell DC, Cusick JC, Kendrick A, Koh J. Randomized trial of acupuncture with antiemetics for reducing postoperative nausea in children. Acta anaesthesiologica Scandinavica. 2019;63(3):292-297. doi:10.1111/aas.13288

- 373. Ralston-Wilson JA, Karlik JB. Intraoperative multipoint acupuncture for reducing postoperative nausea and vomiting in high-risk children: A case series. A&A practice. 2020;14(2):40-43. doi:10.1213/xaa.00000000001137
- **374.** Keswani A, Licht B, Urman RD. Frameworks for value-based care in the nonoperating room setting. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. Aug 1 2022;35(4):508-513. doi:10.1097/ACO.00000000001164
- 375. Hirsch J. Impact of postoperative nausea and vomiting in the surgical setting. Anaesthesia. Jan 1994;49 Suppl:30-3. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2044.1994.tb03580.x
- **376.** Sanchez LA, Hirsch JD. Identification of cost consequences as the critical step in a cost-of-illness study: post-operative nausea and vomiting in an ambulatory surgery center example. J. Pharm. Res. 1992;4:41-53.
- **377.** Fentie Y, Tarekegn A, Gelaw M, Fenta E. Antiemetic Prophylaxis Practice and its Associated Factors Among Health Professionals in Referral Hospitals of North West Ethiopia: Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study. Int J Surg Protoc. Jun 3 2021;25(1):98-107. doi:10.29337/ijsp.135
- **378.** Mehallow CSM, Noble CPJ. Assessment of Cost-awareness and Likelihood to Consider Costs for Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting Medications in a Military Anesthesia Department. J Perianesth Nurs. Dec 2022;37(6):815-819. doi:10.1016/j.jopan.2021.12.007
- 379. 379. Emanuel O, Greenslade K, Lechner M, Eynon-Lewis N. Mindfulness for patients undergoing surgery: a cost-effective and potentially underrated tool for improving outcomes. Br J Anaesth. Jul 2021;127(1):e22-e24. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2021.03.038
- 380. Sulejmani P, Lunt L, Mazur M, et al. Enhanced Recovery After Surgery and Postoperative Nausea and Length of Stay in Mastectomy Patients With Reconstruction. J Surg Res. Sep 2023;289:158-163. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2023.02.003
- **381.** Sang G, Zhang X, Fan H, Ao X, Chen Y, Shi Q. Implementation of an enhanced recovery after surgery program in the treatment of uterine fibroids with focused ultrasound ablation surgery. Int J Hyperthermia. 2022;39(1):414-420. doi:10.1080/02656736.2022.2037740
- 382. Higueras A, Gonzalez G, de Lourdes Bolanos M, Redondo MV, Olazabal IM, Ruiz-Tovar J. Economic Impact of the Implementation of an Enhanced Recovery after Surgery (ERAS) Protocol in a Bariatric Patient Undergoing a Roux-En-Y Gastric Bypass. Int J Environ Res Public Health. Nov 13 2022;19(22)doi:10.3390/ijerph192214946
- 383. Beverly A, Kaye AD, Ljungqvist O, Urman RD. Essential Elements of Multimodal Analgesia in Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Guidelines. Anesthesiol Clin. Jun 2017;35(2):e115-e143. doi:10.1016/j.anclin.2017.01.018
- 384. Tan M, Law LS, Gan TJ. Optimizing pain management to facilitate Enhanced Recovery After Surgery pathways. Can J Anaesth. Feb 2015;62(2):203-18. doi:10.1007/s12630-014-0275-x
- **385.** Nishizawa D, Morino R, Inoue R, et al. Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies Novel Candidate Variants Associated with Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting. Cancers (Basel). Sep 26 2023;15(19)doi:10.3390/cancers15194729
- 386. Ibrahim MA, Pellegrini MV, Preuss CV. Antiemetic Neurokinin-1 Receptor Blockers. StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2024, StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2024.
- 387. Pojawa-Gołąb M, Jaworecka K, Reich A. NK-1 Receptor Antagonists and Pruritus: Review of Current Literature. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb). Sep 2019;9(3):391-405. doi:10.1007/s13555-019-0305-2
- **388.** Yan S, Xu M, Zou X, et al. Acupuncture combined with ondansetron for prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting in high-risk patients undergoing laparoscopic gynaecological surgery: A randomised controlled trial. United European Gastroenterol J. Jul 2023;11(6):564-575. doi:10.1002/ueg2.12421
- 389. Shahait M, Cockrell R, Yezdani M, et al. Improved Outcomes Utilizing a Valveless-Trocar System during Robot-assisted Radical Prostatectomy (RARP). Jsls. Jan-Mar 2019;23(1)doi:10.4293/jsls.2018.00085
- **390.** Chemotherapy-Induced Nausea and Vomiting: Developing Drugs for Prevention Guidance for Industry https://www.fda.gov/media/148829/download
- **391.** Nagase S, Imaura M, Nishimura M, et al. Usefulness of criteria for intraoperative Management of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting. J Pharm Health Care Sci. Apr 4 2022;8(1):11. doi:10.1186/s40780-022-00242-1
- 392. Dewinter G, Staelens W, Veef E, Teunkens A, Van de Velde M, Rex S. Simplified algorithm for the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting: a before-and-after study. Br J Anaesth. Jan 2018;120(1):156-163. doi:10.1016/j. bja.2017.08.003
- 393. Kooij FO, Klok T, Hollmann MW, Kal JE. Automated reminders increase adherence to guidelines for administration of prophylaxis for postoperative nausea and vomiting. Eur J Anaesthesiol. Feb 2010;27(2):187-91. doi:10.1097/EJA.0b013e32832d6a76

- **394.** Drug Shortages. https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/drug-shortages
- 395. Shortage Resources. https://www.ashp.org/drug-shortages/shortage-resources
- **396.** Addressing medicine shortages in the EU. https://commission.europa.eu/system/files/2023-10/Communication_medicines_shortages_EN_0.pdf